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Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA includes “forward-looking statements.” To the extent that the information presented
in this Form 1-SA discusses financial projections, information or expectations about our business plans, results of operations,
products or markets, or otherwise makes statements about future events, such statements are forward-looking. Such forwardlooking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “should,” “may,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “believes,”
“estimates,” “projects,” “forecasts,” “expects,” “plans” and “proposes.” Although we believe that the expectations reflected in
these forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, there are a number of risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual results to differ materially from such forward-looking statements. These include, among others, the cautionary
statements in the “Risk Factors” section and the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” section in this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our
current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition,
operating results, business strategy, short-term and long-term business operations and objectives. These forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date of this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA and are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties
and assumptions, including, but not limited to, the following:
•

overall strength and stability of general economic conditions and of the automotive industry more specifically, both in
the United States and globally;

•

changes in consumer demand for, and acceptance of, our products;

•

changes in the competitive environment, including adoption of technologies and products that compete with our
products;

•

industry cycles and trends;

•

changes in the price of oil and electricity;

•

changes in laws or regulations governing our business and operations;

•

demographic trends;

•

dependence on key personnel for current and future performance;

•

risks and uncertainties related to our significant indebtedness;

•

our ability to maintain adequate liquidity and financing sources and an appropriate level of debt on terms favorable to
our Company;

•

availability of adequate financing on acceptable terms to our customers and suppliers to enable them to enter into or
continue their business relationships with us;

•

covenants in the agreements that govern our indebtedness that may limit our ability to take advantage of certain future
business opportunities;

•

our ability to design, produce and market future vehicle models;

•

the number of reservations and cancellations for the Elio, and our ability to deliver on those reservations;

•

our ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards to reduce our future tax liability;

•

failures or security breaches of our information systems;

•

risks relating to the incurrence of legal liability;

•

our ability to realize production efficiencies and to achieve reductions in costs;

•

our ability to maintain quality control over our vehicles and avoid material vehicle recalls;

•

our ability to manage the distribution channels for our products, including our ability to successfully implement our
direct to consumer distribution strategy;

•

costs and risks associated with litigation;
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•

changes in accounting principles, or their application or interpretation, and our ability to make estimates and the
assumptions underlying the estimates, which could have an effect on earnings;

•

interest rates and the credit markets; and

•

other risks described from time to time in periodic and current reports that we file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“Commission”).

This list of factors that may affect future performance and the accuracy of forward-looking statements is illustrative, but not
exhaustive. New risk factors and uncertainties not described here or elsewhere in this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA,
including in the sections of this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA entitled “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” may emerge from time to time. Moreover, because we operate in a
very competitive and rapidly changing environment, it is not possible for our management to predict all risk factors and
uncertainties, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of
factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. The
forward-looking statements are also subject to the risks and uncertainties specific to our Company, including but not limited to
the fact that we have limited operating history, have not yet begun producing or delivering our first vehicle, have no current
revenue, and have limited number of management and other staff. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the future
events and trends discussed in this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA may not occur and actual results could differ materially and
adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. You should not rely upon forward-looking
statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements
are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, levels of activity, performance and events and circumstances reflected
in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur. Moreover, neither we nor any other person assume responsibility for
the accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking statements. This Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA contains estimates and
statistical data that we obtained from industry publications and reports. These publications generally indicate that they have
obtained their information from sources believed to be reliable, but do not guarantee the accuracy and completeness of their
information, and you are cautioned not to give undue weight to such estimates. Although we believe the publications are reliable,
we have not independently verified their data. In addition, projections, assumptions and estimates of our future performance and
the future performance of the markets in which we operate are necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk. You
should read this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA and the documents that we reference in this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA
and have filed as exhibits to this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA with the understanding that our actual future results, levels of
activity, performance and achievements may be materially different from what we expect. Should one or more of the risks or
uncertainties described in this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA occur, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, our
actual results and plans could differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements. All forward-looking
statements, expressed or implied, included in this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA are expressly qualified in their entirety by
this cautionary statement. This cautionary statement should also be considered in connection with any subsequent written or oral
forward-looking statements that we or persons acting on our behalf may issue. Except as otherwise required by applicable law,
we disclaim any duty to update any forward-looking statements, all of which are expressly qualified by the statements in this
section, to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA.
Item 1.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and operating results together with our
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA. This discussion and analysis
and other parts of this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA contain forward-looking statements based upon current beliefs, plans
and expectations that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under “Risk Factors” or
in other parts of this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA.
Since our incorporation in October 2009, we have been engaged primarily in design and development of the Elio and
obtained loans, investments and reservations to fund that development. We are considered to be a development stage company,
since we devote substantially all of our efforts to the establishment of our business and planned principal operations have not
commenced. We completed the initial design for the Elio as well as our business model in December 2012. In 2013, we began
accepting reservations for the Elio, purchased manufacturing equipment, built
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two prototypes and secured a manufacturing facility. During 2014, we sourced suppliers and services providers, built two
prototypes and applied for the ATVM loan (described below). In 2015, we built an additional prototype, engaged in a convertible
subordinated note offering, and filed an offering statement with the SEC under Regulation A, which was approved on November
20, 2015 and closed February 16, 2016 after successfully raising $15,819,993, net of offering costs. During 2016, we continued
engineering design and development, created the initial bill of materials, built three engineering prototypes, obtained partial
release of reservation deposits from a credit card processing company and pursued additional equity funding. The primary focus
for 2017 and 2018 was raising additional funding through debt and equity offerings.
Cash investment has totaled $41,282,802, net of related expenses, from incorporation through June 30, 2018 and loans have
totaled $38,419,640 from incorporation through June 30, 2018. We have also obtained reservation deposits from persons desiring
to reserve an Elio totaling $28,085,850 through June 30, 2018.
While we have raised significant amounts of funding since the inception of our company, designing and launching the
production of a vehicle is highly capital-intensive. We have encountered delays with respect to our development schedule in the
past, primarily due to delays in funding. These funding delays also resulted in our having to obtain extensions from our lenders
and lessor. Fortunately, the lenders and lessor, which are most critical to our future success, have been cooperative.
As described in this report, we are continuing to make progress with respect to the Elio’s development, despite the lack of
sufficient cash, due to (1) public support and acceptance of the Elio, as evidenced by the successful crowdfunded Regulation A
offering and reservation deposits, and (2) the commitment of persons closely connected to our company, such as Stuart Lichter.
During the 2017 and 2018, Mr. Lichter converted $10.5 million of loans and accrued interest into shares of Common Stock,
invested an additional $1,250,000 through the private placement of the Company’s Common Stock, and extended the maturity
dates of other loans to December 2018 and January 2019. He also controls CH Capital Lending and Shreveport Business Park,
which have extended and/or deferred payment terms and waived fees.
On May 31, 2017, we amended our agreement with Racer Trust pursuant to which our commitment to create 1,500 jobs by
July 1, 2017 has been extended to September 1, 2019. This commitment carries a penalty of $5,000 for each full-time, permanent
direct job that falls below the 1,500 target. At December 31, 2016, the Company recorded an accrued liability of $7,500,000, and
the expense is included in general and administrative expenses in the Statement of Operations. On May 31, 2017, the Company
entered into a third amendment and extended the deadline of this agreement to September 1, 2019. At that time, the Company has
reclassified the estimate as an other long-term liability. The Company will continue to monitor the jobs creation agreement.
Operating Results
We have not yet generated any revenues and do not anticipate doing so until late in 2019.
Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2017. Operating expenses for the six months
ended June 30, 2018 decreased by 24% over the comparable 2017 period.
Engineering, research and development costs decreased $551 thousand or 47%. This decrease was primarily the result of an
approximately $650 thousand decrease in engineering, design and development due to focusing efforts on raising additional
capital.
General and administrative expenses decreased $25 thousand or 2%, primarily resulting from: (1) a $123 thousand decrease
in consulting and professional fees; (2) a $40 thousand decrease in payroll and related expenses; and offset by a $140 thousand
increase in property taxes and common area maintenance charges related to the Shreveport facility.
Sales and marketing expenses decreased $326 thousand or 37% as a result of: (1) $170 thousand decrease in advertising,
social media and press releases; (2) a $30 thousand decrease in credit card fees; and (3) an approximately $98 thousand decrease
in professional and operating expenses.
Other income decreased $6.8 million as a result of the reversal of the jobs creation fee that was reversed on May 31, 2017 as
a result of an extension granted until September 1, 2019. At the time the extension was granted, management believed the
extension allowed for ample timing to raise capital and move closer to the beginning of production. At December 31, 2017, this
amount was accrued for again.
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Interest expense decreased by 41% during the six months ended June 30, 2018, as compared to the prior year, due to a
reduction in interest expense associated with the beneficial conversion feature on the Tier 1 and Tier 2 subordinated convertible
notes.
As a result, our net loss for the six months ended June 30, 2018 was $7,190,353 as compared to $4,345,241 for the
comparable 2017 period, an increase of 65%. Our accumulated deficit was $171,785,525 as of June 30, 2018.
Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2016. Operating expenses for the six months
ended June 30, 2017 decreased by 80% to approximately $3.76 million, compared to approximately $18.93 million for the
comparable 2016 period, primarily as a result of a lack of available funding for the six months ended June 30, 2017.
Engineering, research and development costs decreased approximately $10.5 million, or 90%, to approximately $1.18
million from approximately $11.67 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017. This decrease was primarily the result of: (1)
an approximately $9.7 million decrease in engineering, design and development due to a lack of available funding and focusing
efforts on fundraising; (2) an approximately $300 thousand decrease in payroll and payroll related expenses due to several
employees going on furlough effective January 1, 2017; and (3) an approximately $24 thousand decrease in travel related
expenses.
General and administrative expenses decreased approximately $1.9 million, or 53%, to approximately $1.7 million from
approximately $3.6 million during the same period in 2016. The decrease was primarily from the result of: (1) an approximately
$65 thousand decrease in common area maintenance, insurance and property taxes associated with the terms of the Shreveport
capital lease; (2) an approximately $633 thousand decrease in professional service fees as a result of a lack of available funding;
and (3) an approximately $820 thousand decrease in payroll and payroll related expenses due to several employees going on
furlough effective January 1, 2017.
Sales and marketing expenses decreased approximately $2.8 million, or 76%, to approximately $0.88 million from
approximately $3.66 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017 as a result of: (1) an approximately $2.0 million decrease in
social media, television and print advertisements; (2) an approximately $456 thousand decrease in tour related expenses; (3) an
approximately $90 thousand decrease in labor due to several employees going on furlough effective January 1, 2017; and (4) an
approximately $32 thousand decrease in press release fees.
Other income increased $7.5 million as a result of the reversal of the jobs creation fee that was accrued on December 31,
2016. This amount was reversed on May 31, 2017 as a result of an extension granted until September 1, 2019. Management
believes the extension allows for ample timing to raise capital and move closer to the beginning of production.
Interest expense increased to approximately $8.56 million, or 121%, during the six months ended June 30, 2017, as
compared to approximately $3.87 million for the six months ended June, 2016, due to a $2.6 million increase in accrued interest
on the subordinated promissory note to RACER Trust.
As a result, our net loss for the six months ended June 30, 2017 was approximately $4.35 million as compared to
approximately $23.32 million for the comparable 2016 period, a decrease of 81%. Our accumulated deficit was approximately
$145.49 million as of June 30, 2017.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of June 30, 2018, we had cash of $339,712 and a working capital deficit of $54,725,875 as compared to cash of $7,155
and a working capital deficit of $49,674,328 at December 31, 2017. The increase in the working capital deficit was due primarily
to an increase in the current portion of interest payable to Racer Trust.
In addition to the agreements made with our lenders to defer cash outlays, we have funded our operations during the six
months ended June 30, 2018 primarily through the private placement of common stock.
CH Capital Lending, LLC
On April 27, 2017, we entered an extension agreement with CH Capital Lending, LLC in which CH Capital Lending, LLC
has agreed to extend the maturity date of the note to July 31, 2018 with respect to a loan for approximately $4.11 million, secured
by a first position in equipment in the Shreveport, Louisiana manufacturing
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facility. The extension required a payment of $350,000 to the lender by August 1, 2017 and $50,000 per month thereafter. On
August 11, 2017 the Company entered into the first amendment to the second loan extension agreement, in which CH Capital
extended the due date of the $350,000 payment from August 1, 2017 to November 1, 2017, and $50,000 per month thereafter.
On April 30, 2018 the Company entered into the second amendment to the second loan extension agreement with CH
Capital, which extended the due date of the $650,000 due under the first amendment of the second loan extension until July 31,
2018. As of June 30, 2018, as a condition of the foregoing extension, the Company has paid $212,500 to CH Capital, which shall
be applied to and reduce the $650,000 owed by the Company to $437,500. The agreement further obligated to Company to pay
CH Capital $50,000 per month, no later than the first day of each month. The lender, CH Capital Lending, is an affiliate of Stuart
Lichter, one of our directors and significant stockholders.
Stuart Lichter
During 2014, the Company received advances totaling $1,900,500 from a director and significant stockholder of the
Company, as evidenced by promissory notes. The notes incur interest at 10% per annum. All accrued interest and unpaid
principal is payable upon maturity at January 31, 2019.
Racer Trust
We also have a long-term loan of $23,000,000 from the Racer Trust which was incurred in March 2013 in connection with
the purchase of the equipment at the Shreveport facility. This loan was to be repaid in monthly installments of $173,500
beginning on November 1, 2013, with the entire remaining balance due September 1, 2016. We were delinquent on the first
payment, which triggered default interest to be charged on the loan at 18% per annum. Payments made in 2014 were applied to
this interest. In March 2015, we entered into an amendment to the promissory note which deferred the installment payments until
January 1, 2016 and extended the maturity date to July 1, 2017. We were late on the September and October 2016 payments,
which triggered default interest to be charged on the loan at 18% per annum. A forbearance agreement was signed with Racer
Trust that extended the payments until May 31, 2017, with payments commencing June 1, 2017. Default interest of 18% per
annum will continue to accrue as of October 1, 2016. On May 31, 2017, we entered into additional agreements with Racer Trust
that further extended the payments until July 31, 2017, with monthly installments resuming on August 1, 2017 and extended the
maturity date of the note to July 31, 2018. On July 1, 2017 we entered into a forbearance agreement that extended the payments
until September 30, 2017, with payments commencing October 1, 2017. On September 30, 2017, the Company amended the
forbearance agreement with Racer Trust extending the payments until January 1, 2018, provided that the Company pay to Racer a
$10,000 monthly administrative fee for October 2017, November 2017, and December 2017. On January 1, 2018, the Company
further amended the forbearance agreement with Racer Trust. Under the terms of the amendment the Company shall pay Racer
Trust on or before July 10, 2018 $3,934,256, which is the sum of the unpaid monthly amounts and late fees due to Racer Trust.
On August 1, 2018, the Company entered into an additional amendment to the promissory note, which deferred payment of the
note for a period of an additional five months, such that the entire balance of principal and interest shall be due in full on
December 31, 2018.
Convertible Subordinated Secured Notes Payable
During 2015, the Company issued $5,000,560 Tier 1 and $341,000 Tier 2 Convertible Subordinated Secured Notes. The
notes are due September 30, 2022, and incur interest at 5% per annum. The Tier 1 and Tier 2 notes convert into common shares
at a conversion price of $5.98 and $9.65, respectively. The notes contain a repricing provision that was triggered by a private
placement of common stock on March 31, 2017 to a director and stockholder of the Company. The conversion rate of the Tier 2
notes were reduced from $9.65 per share of common stock to $5.98 per share of common stock. At June 30, 2018, the Tier 1 and
Tier 2 Convertible Subordinated Notes outstanding is $1,571,981 and $71,000, respectively. On April 24, 2018, the repricing
provision was triggered again by a private placement of common stock. The conversion rate of the Tier 1 and Tier 2 notes was
reduced from $5.98 per share of common stock to $2.75 per share of common stock.
Convertible Unsecured Notes Payable
During 2017, the Company received advances totaling $877,000 from a director and significant stockholder of the
Company, as evidenced by Convertible Unsecured Notes. At the time the advances were made, the conversion terms on the
Convertible Unsecured Notes were to convert into common stock at a conversion price equal to the
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lessor of (i) seventy-five percent (75%) of the per share price at which Common Stock is offered by the Company to the public
pursuant to the registration statement filed with the Commission on August 3, 2017 or (ii) the average trading price for the
Common Stock during the ten (10) trading day period ending one trading day prior to the date of conversion The Convertible
Unsecured Notes can be voluntarily converted at any time commencing six months after the original issue date and have a two
year maturity date. The Convertible Unsecured Notes incur interest, payable upon maturity at 5% per annum on the principal
amount.
In connection with the Company’s private placement with Overstock in April 2018, the Board amended the conversion
terms on the Convertible Unsecured Notes. At that time, Stuart Lichter, the holder of a series of Convertible Unsecured Notes
originally issued on various dates between August 2017 and April 2018, converted all accrued principal and interest in the
amount of approximately $1.7 million into 620,932 shares of the Company’s common stock, at a conversion price of $2.75 per
share.
Between July 2016 and March 2017, the Company received advances totaling $6,484,000 from directors and stockholders
of the Company. The advances are evidenced by a Convertible Unsecured Note, incurring interest at 5% per annum and maturing
September 30, 2022. At the time of issuance, the notes could be converted into common stock at a conversion price of $15.00 and
had a repricing provision, which was triggered on March 31, 2017 by the private placement of common stock. The conversion
rate was reduced from $15.00 per share of common stock to $5.98 per share of common stock. On April 17, 2017, the Company
converted the outstanding principal and accrued interest into 1,111,910 shares of common stock.
Capital Sublease Obligation
We also have a capital sublease obligation with Shreveport Business Park, LLC, an affiliate of Stuart Lichter, one of our
directors and significant stockholders. On November 17, 2016, we entered into a second capital sublease amendment, which
converted sublease payments, common area maintenance charges, property taxes, insurance, and late fees and interest into
435,036 shares of the Company’s Series C Convertible Preferred Stock and a warrant to purchase 25,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock. On January 1, 2017, $2,992,125 in sublease payments, and $598,324 in projected lease charges also
converted into 96,380 shares of the Company’s Series D Convertible Preferred Stock. On December 28, 2017, the Company
entered into the third amendment with Shreveport Business Park, LLC. Under the third amendment of the leased space shall be
reduced by 152,557 square feet effective January 1, 2018. As a result of the reduction in square feet, the base rent shall be
$211,205. On April 30, 2018, the Company entered into the fourth amendment with Shreveport Business Park, LLC. The terms
of the new agreement deferred the monthly lease and lease related charges beginning January 1, 2018 through July 31, 2018. On
May 3, 2018, as a condition of the foregoing amendment, the Company paid $387,811 to Shreveport Business Park. On
November 7, 2018, the Company entered into the fifth amendment with Shreveport Business Park, LLC. The terms of the new
agreement deferred the monthly lease and lease related charges through December 14, 2018, at which time the Company has
agreed to an additional payment of $2,530,656. The agreement stipulates that monthly payments shall begin on January 1, 2019.
Common Stock
In August 2015, we filed an offering statement pursuant to Regulation A of the Securities Act of 1933, which was qualified
by the Commission on November 20, 2015. We offered a minimum of 1,050,000 shares of common stock and a maximum of
2,090,000 shares of common stock on a “best efforts” basis, at a price of $12.00 per share. On February 16, 2016, we closed the
Regulation A offering, after issuing 1,410,048 shares of common stock for proceeds of $15,819,993 net of offering expenses.
During 2016, we issued 63,000 shares of common stock in connection with a private placement for proceeds of $1,071,000.
In 2017, we issued 213,211 shares of common stock in connection with a private placement to a director and stockholder for
proceeds of $1,275,000. On April 24, 2018, we issued an additional 909,091 shares of common stock in connection with a private
placement for proceeds of $2,500,000.
Customer Reservations
Through June 30, 2018, we have $28 million in reservations, an average of $426 thousand per month. Of this amount, $1.11
million was held at June 30, 2018 by credit card processing companies as a percentage of non-refundable reservations.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at June 30, 2018:
Payments due by Period

Long-term debt
Convertible notes payable
Capital lease obligations
Total

Total

<1 year

1-3 years

45,454,471
1,884,173
54,633,749
$ 101,972,393

$ 42,828,807
—
3,525,470
$ 46,354,277

$ 2,625,663
—
5,068,908
$ 7,694,571

$

3-5 years

$

—
—
5,106,925
$ 5,106,925

>5 years

$

—
1,884,173
40,932,446
$ 42,816,619

Payments due by period included accrued interest through the date that the obligation will be settled.
Plan of Operations
With much of the vehicle engineering completed, our engineering simulations suggest that the important vehicle
performance milestones can be achieved. To date, $63.3 million has been invested in vehicle engineering and development, of
which $26.3 million was in the form of shares of common stock granted and the assumption of liabilities of Elio Engineering,
Inc. dba ESG Engineering. The Reg A+ funds of approximately $16.0 million were used to further design and build initial
engineering prototypes. At this point, we currently estimate we need to raise approximately $376.6 million of new investment (of
a total budget of $531.2 million) to fund production activities through cashflow positive. This amount is exclusive of (a) $110.5
million which we assume will be obtained through additional reservation deposits, (b) sales margin of $44.1 million which we
assume will result from our initial customer deliveries of the Elio. We note that as we are in the prototype build stage of
development, the amount that we need to raise may change.
We refined our production plans with suppliers to start commercial production on a 76-week schedule, to commence with
funding of at least $33 million to build 18 prototypes. The key timelines are in the chart below:
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The anticipated budgets required to achieve the milestones are provided in the table below:
Category

Total (in millions)

Production Tooling
Production Equipment
Store Fit-Up
Other Fixed Assets
Engineering Design & Development
Sales & Marketing
General & Administrative
Shreveport Marshaling Expense
Retail Store Expense
Principal & Interest
Capital Raising Costs
Working Capital
Total Uses
Expected other Sources
Reservations
Sales Margin
Net Funds Required

$

113.2
166.0
6.4
5.4
85.8
35.9
40.6
17.3
14.4
15.2
30.1
0.9
531.2

$

110.5
44.1
376.6

Several major suppliers have committed to our project and will share in the additional cost of engineering and equipment, as
discussed below. If we are unable to obtain or utilize these supplier commitments when needed or on acceptable terms, we may
not be able to finance the capital expenditures necessary to complete our engineering, development, tooling, and/or
manufacturing activities. Alternatively, we will need to replace this capital from a combination of more traditional sources, such
as venture capital, credit facilities, capital leasing of equipment, and the capital markets.
Customer Reservations. Customer reservations have provided significant funding for us in the past and we expect
reservations to be a significant source of short-term liquidity in the future. With each progressive step in our development, we
have experienced a surge in reservations. In addition, as we achieve subsequent milestones in the development of the Elio,
customer confidence increases. Accordingly, we expect to see surges in reservations as the following milestones are achieved and
announced: completion of prototypes, testing results, confirmation of mileage, hiring at the manufacturing facility, and, hopefully
before production commences, scarcity.
Through June 30, 2018, we have $28 million in reservations, an average of $426 thousand per month. Of this amount, $1.11
million was held at June 30, 2018 by credit card processing companies as a percentage of non-refundable reservations.
Sale of Excess Equipment. We identified equipment in the Shreveport plant that will not be used in production of the Elio
and made the equipment available for sale. Through June 30, 2018, sales of excess equipment has yielded approximately $5.8
million, which has been applied to the principal balance on the CH Capital Lending, LLC note. As of June 30, 2018, an
additional $875 thousand in equipment was available for sale. We believe that approximately $3 thousand will be sold in 2018
and approximately $872 thousand will be sold in 2019 or beyond. As such, $2,807 has been recorded as current assets held for
sale in the June 30, 2018 balance sheet, and the remaining balance is included in net machinery and equipment.
Advanced Technology Vehicles Manufacturing (ATVM) Loan Program. In 2007, the Advanced Technology Vehicles
Manufacturing (ATVM) Program was established by Congress to support the production of fuel-efficient, advanced technology
vehicles and components in the United States. To date, the program, which is administered by the U.S. Department of Energy’s
Loan Programs Office, has made over $8 billion in loans, including loans to Ford ($5.9 billion), Nissan ($1.45 billion) and Tesla
($465 million). This1 loan program provides direct loans to automotive or component manufacturers for re-equipping, expanding,
or establishing manufacturing facilities in the United States that produce fuel-efficient advanced technology vehicles (ATVs) or
qualifying components, or for engineering integration performed in the U.S. for ATVs or qualifying components. The ATVM
loans are made
9
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attractive to applicants due to their low interest rates (set at U.S. Treasury rates (approximately 2% to 4%), minimal fees (no
application fees or interest rate spread and only a closing fee of 0.1% of loan principal amount), and long loan term life of up to
25 years (set at the assets’ useful life). In order to qualify, auto manufacturers must be able to deliver “light duty vehicles” having
25% greater fuel economy than comparable models produced in 2005 or “ultra-efficient vehicles” that achieve at least 75 miles
per gallon. In addition, ATVM borrowers must remain financially viable over the life of the loan without the receipt of additional
federal funding associated with the proposed project.
The ATVM application process is comprised of 4 stages:
1.

Application – Part I: Determine basic eligibility

2.

Application – Part II: Confirmatory due diligence

3.

Conditional Commitment: Negotiate term sheet

4.

Loan Guarantee: Negotiate final agreements

Elio Motors has completed the first stage by submitting an application for a loan of approximately $185 million, the
proceeds of which would be used to partly fund the purchase of equipment and equipment installation into the Shreveport facility
prior to and ramp up after the start of production. As of January 15, 2015, the Department of Energy (DOE) has confirmed that
the Company has achieved the technical criteria for the loan. Due diligence has been pending upon the confirmation of the
Company’s financial backing. The Company has shared its production timing plans with the DOE, including the financing
milestones to be achieved to kickoff production tooling in order to meet the Company’s start of production date. While the DOE
has acknowledged and seems to be sensitive to the Company’s requirements, it has not made any commitments regarding its
ability to meet these funding milestones. The specific terms and conditions of the ATVM loan will be negotiated with each
applicant during the conditional commitment stage. If the Company is unable to obtain a loan under the ATVM Program, it will
rely on funding through the issuance debt and/or equity securities, and customer reservations.
Going Concern
Our financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which implies the Company will continue to realize
its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company has not generated operating revenues since
inception and has never paid any dividends. The continuation of the Company as a going concern is dependent upon the
continued financial support from its shareholders, and the ability of the Company to obtain necessary equity financing to
continue. These financial statements do not include any adjustments to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset
amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.
We have experienced recurring net losses from operations, which losses have caused an accumulated deficit of
$171,825,278 as of June 30, 2018. In addition, we have a working capital deficit of $54,725,876 as of June 30, 2018. We had net
losses of $7,190,353 and $4,345,241 for six months ending June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. These factors, among others,
raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. If we are unable to continue to obtain financing to meet
our working capital requirements, we may have to curtail our business sharply or cease operations altogether. Our continuation
as a going concern is dependent upon our ability to generate sufficient cash flow to meet our obligations on a timely basis to
retain our current financing, to obtain additional financing, and, ultimately, to attain profitability. Should any of these events not
occur, we will be adversely affected and we may have to cease operations.
The ongoing execution of our business plan is expected to result in operating losses over the next twelve months.
Management believes it will need to raise capital through loans or stock issuances in order to have enough cash to maintain its
operations for the next twelve months. There are no assurances that we will be successful in achieving our goals of obtaining cash
through loans, stock issuances, or increasing revenues and reaching profitability.
In view of these conditions, our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon our ability to meet our financing
requirements, and to ultimately achieve profitable operations. Management believes that its current and future plans provide an
opportunity to continue as a going concern. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the
recoverability and classification of recorded assets, or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may be necessary in the
event we cannot continue as a going concern.
10
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Subsequent Events
Racer Trust
On August 1, 2018, the Company entered into an additional amendment to the promissory note, which deferred payment of
the note for a period of an additional five months, such that the entire balance of principal and interest shall be due in full on
December 31, 2018.
CH Capital Lending
On November 7, 2018, the Company entered into the third amendment to the second loan extension, which exctended the
maturity date of the note until March 15, 2019.
Shreveport Business Park
On November 7, 2018, the Company entered into the fifth amendment to the lease agreement. The terms of the new
agreement deferred the monthly lease and lease related charges through December 14, 2018, at which time the Company has
agreed to an additional payment of $2,530,656. The agreement stipulates that monthly payments shall begin on January 1, 2019.
ElioCoin Security Token
On September 20, 2018, the Company announced that it has formally launched the pre-sale of the ElioCoin Security Token
(the “ElioCoin”). The company currently intends to raise up to $25 million in the private placement, which is limited to certain
institutional and accredited investors pursuant to Regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors

Our future operating results could differ materially from the results described in this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA due
to the risks and uncertainties described below. You should consider carefully the following information about risks below in
evaluating our business. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial conditions, results of operations and
future growth prospects would likely be materially and adversely affected. In these circumstances, the market price of our
common stock would likely decline.
We cannot assure investors that our assumptions and expectations will prove to be correct. Important factors could cause our
actual results to differ materially from those indicated or implied by forward-looking statements. See “Note Regarding ForwardLooking Statements” in this Semiannual Report on Form 1-SA. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include
those factors discussed below.
There are no material changes to the Company’s risk factors as described in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 1-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.
Item 2.

Other Information

None.
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Item 3.
Financial Statements
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ELIO MOTORS, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS
June 30, 2018
(Unaudited)

Assets
Current Assets
Cash
Restricted cash held in escrow
Prepaid expenses
Assets held for sale
Total Current Assets
Restricted cash held for customer deposits
Machinery and equipment, net
Facility under capital sublease, net
Deferring offering costs
Other assets
Total Assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Refundable customer deposits
Advances due to related party
Interest payable, current portion
Notes payable due to related party
Notes payable, net of discount and deferred loan costs
Total Current Liabilities
Nonrefundable customer deposits
Interest payable, net of current portion
Convertible notes payable, net of discount and deferred loan costs
Notes payable due to related party, net of current portion and discount

$

$

$

Capital sublease obligation
Other long-term liabilities
Total Liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (see notes to financial statements)
Stockholders’ Deficit:
Common stock, $.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 30,118,597 and
28,539,369 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, 531,416 and 531,416
shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total Stockholders’ Deficit
$
Total Liabilities and Stockholders Deficit
See accompanying notes to financial statements
F-2

December 31, 2017
(Audited)

339,712
8,637
1,320,394
2,807
1,671,550
2,296,248
11,969,031
3,367,462
243,564
609,333
20,157,188

$

6,691,467
1,182,550
76,813
21,569,741
5,750,707
21,126,147
56,397,425
26,903,300
3,464,059
390,412
—
4,511,473

$

$

7,155
3,837
73,237
56,107
140,336
2,237,898
11,975,409
5,233,265
—
25,000
19,611,908

5,792,957
1,198,750
76,057
17,509,996
4,110,757
21,126,147
49,814,664
26,859,412
3,007,565
1,133,947
1,900,500
6,295,142

7,500,000
99,166,669

7,500,000
96,511,230

301,186

285,394

5,314
92,469,544
(171,785,525)
(79,009,481)
20,157,188 $

5,314
87,358,339
(164,548,369)
(76,899,321)
19,611,908
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ELIO MOTORS, INC.
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended June 30,
2018
2017

Costs and Expenses:
Engineering, research and development costs
General and administrative expenses
Sales and marketing expenses
Total costs and expenses
Loss From Operations
Other income (expense):
Other income
Interest expense
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of derivative liability
Total other expenses, net
Net Loss
Basic loss per common share:
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding

$
$
$
$
$

632,401 $
1,668,769
557,736
2,858,907
(2,858,907)

1,183,676
1,694,196
884,156
3,762,028
(3,762,028)

$
$
$
$
$

692,022
(5,023,468)
—
(4,331,446)
(7,190,353) $

7,500,222
(8,558,131)
474,696
(583,213)
(4,345,241)

$

(0.25) $
29,096,454

(0.17)
26,193,289

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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ELIO MOTORS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended June 30,
2018

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net Loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of discount on notes payable
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Accrued interest on capital sublease obligation
(Gain) Loss on change in fair value of derivative liability
Stock based compensation
Failed offering costs
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Interest payable
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of machinery and equipment, net
Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Restricted cash
Customer deposits
Issuance of common stock
Common stock issuance costs
Deferred offering costs
Proceeds from convertible notes
Repayments of advances from related party
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Net Change in Cash
Cash at Beginning of Year
Cash at End of Six Month Period
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid during the period for interest
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities
Amendment of capital lease resulting in change in lease payments
Convertible notes payable converted to equity
Recognition of dividend upon triggering down round feature in outstanding
warrants
Conversion of accounts payable and accrued interest to preferred stock under
capital lease arrangement

$

$

(7,190,353) $

(4,345,241)

88,511
126,645
31,820
1,057,278
—
900,403
(243,564)

130,979
3,685,368
512,148
1,288,243
(474,696)
702,758
—

(1,831,490)
898,509
3,494,671
(2,667,570)

871,446
(6,952,986)
3,069,224
(1,512,757)

53,300
53,300

113,708
113,708

(63,150)
27,688
2,500,000
(45,161)
—
788,000
(260,550)
2,946,827
332,557
7,155
339,712 $

(120,417)
697,420
700,000
—
(89,445)
514,000
(418,271)
1,283,287
(115,762)
120,206
4,444

$

313,055

$

3,147

$

1,783,670

$

—

$

1,724,953

$

9,205,670

$

46,804

$

—

$

3,590,449

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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ELIO MOTORS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 1 – BUSINESS ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS
(OTCQB: ELIO) (the “Company”), was incorporated in the State of Arizona on October 26, 2009, and changed its domicile
to the State of Delaware on May 22, 2017. The Company was created to provide affordable transportation to those commuters
seeking an alternative to today’s offering; at the same time provide vital American jobs. The Company is in the process of
designing a three wheeled vehicle for mass production in the U.S. that achieves ultra-high fuel economy, exceeds safety
standards and a targeted base price of $7,450, which excludes options, destination/delivery charges, taxes, title and registration.
Pursuant to the certificate of incorporation, the Company is authorized to issue 100,000,000 shares of common stock and
10,000,000 preferred shares, of which 435,036 preferred shares are designated as Series C Convertible Preferred shares (“Series
C shares”), and 96,380 preferred shares are designated as Series D Convertible Preferred shares (“Series D shares”). The
Company’s common stock and preferred shares have a par value of $0.01 per share. To date no dividends have been declared by
the Company.
The Series C shares are convertible into an equal number of common shares, subject to certain dilution adjustments, at the
stockholder’s election. The Series C shares shall, with respect to rights upon liquidation, winding up, or dissolution, rank senior
and prior in right to each class of common stock and any other class of preferred shares, other than a class or series ranking on par
with or senior to the Series D shares. There were 435,036 Series C shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2018 and December
31, 2017.
The Series D shares are convertible into an equal number of common shares, subject to certain dilution adjustments, at the
holder’s election. The Series D shares shall, with respect to rights upon liquidation, winding up, or dissolution, rank senior and
prior in right to each class of common stock and any other class of preferred shares, other than a class or series ranking on par
with or senior to the Series D shares. The Company’s Series C shares and Series D shares shall rank on par with one another.
There were 96,380 Series D shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
NOTE 2 – GOING CONCERN AND MANAGEMENT’S PLANS
As of June 30, 2018 the Company had a working capital deficiency and a stockholder’s deficit of $54,725,876 and
$79,009,481, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company incurred losses of $7,190,353 and
$4,345,241, respectively. These conditions indicate that there is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern within the next twelve months from the filing date of this report.
Through June 30, 2018, the Company has not recorded any revenues for the sale of its vehicle nor does it expect to record
revenues of any significant amount prior to commercialization of its vehicle. The Company’s primary source of operating funds
since inception has been contributions from stockholders, debt issuance and customer deposits. The Company intends to continue
to raise additional capital through debt and equity placement offerings until it consistently achieves positive cash flow from
operations after starting production. If the Company is unable to obtain such additional financing on a timely basis or the
Company’s debt holders do not agree to convert their notes into equity or extend the maturity dates of their notes, the Company
may have to curtail its engineering and development, and sales and marketing efforts, which would have an adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition, and results of operations, and ultimately the Company could be forced to discontinue its
operations and liquidate.
Once the Company’s planned principal operations commence, its focus will be on the manufacturing and marketing of its
vehicles and the continued research and development of new products. The Company may not be profitable even if it succeeds in
commercializing its product. The Company expects to make substantial expenditures and to incur additional operating losses for
at least the next few years as it continues to develop the vehicle, increase manufacturing capacity for production, and enter into
production and marketing collaborations with other companies, if available on commercially reasonable terms, or develop these
capabilities internally.
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (“US GAAP”), which contemplate continuation of the Company as a going concern and the
realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The carrying
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ELIO MOTORS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 2 – GOING CONCERN AND MANAGEMENT’S PLANS (continued)
amounts of assets and liabilities presented in the financial statements do not necessarily purport to represent realizable or
settlement values. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Accounting
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (“GAAP”) as contained within the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”).
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates include the
valuation of services provided in exchange for common stock, the utilization and realization of machinery and equipment held
for production, the valuation of assets held for sale, the fair value of derivative instruments, and the discount on debt for warrants
granted in connection with the issuance of promissory notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Financial Instruments
FASB ASC Subtopic 825-10, Financial Instruments, requires disclosure of fair value information about financial
instruments. The Company’s financial instruments include cash, accounts payable, other current assets and liabilities, long-term
debt and derivative instruments. The fair value of the Company’s cash, accounts payable, other current assets and liabilities
approximates their carrying value due to their relatively short maturities. The fair value of the Company’s senior and
subordinated debt instruments approximates their carrying value as the interest is tied to or approximates market rates, or is short
term in nature. The fair value of the Companies convertible subordinated debt instruments approximates the carrying value as the
applicable interest rate has been adjusted to account for the beneficial conversion feature, or is short term in nature. For fair value
of derivative instruments refer to Note 6.
Cash
The Company maintains cash in bank accounts, which, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not
experienced any losses in such accounts, and periodically evaluates the creditworthiness of the financial institutions and has
determined the credit exposure to be negligible.
Restricted Cash
Restricted cash held in escrow as of June 30, 2018, includes $8,637 deposited in escrow accounts with financial institutions
for future payment of principal payments on notes payable from the sale of machinery and equipment. As of December 31, 2017,
the Company had $3,837 deposited in escrow accounts for future payment of property taxes and principal payments on notes
payable from the sale of machinery and equipment.
In addition, the Company has recorded $2,296,248 and $2,237,898 as restricted cash held for customer deposits as of June
30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. These amounts include amounts held as restricted that relate to refundable
customer deposits, as well as amounts held as reserves by credit card processors.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Property and equipment held for
sale is recorded at the lower of cost or fair value less cost to sell. Major improvements are capitalized while expenditures for
maintenance, repairs and minor improvements are charged to expense. When assets
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ELIO MOTORS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
are retired or otherwise disposed of, the assets and related accumulated depreciation and amortization are eliminated from the
accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations. Property and equipment held for use are depreciated and
amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets once placed in service.
The estimated useful lives for property and equipment are as follows:
Facility under capital sublease
Machinery and equipment
Vehicles
Computer equipment and software

25 years
3-10 years
3-5 years
2-5 years

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
In accordance with FASB ASC Subtopic 360-10, Property, Plant, and Equipment – Impairment or Disposal of Long Lived
Assets, property and equipment and identifiable intangible assets with estimable useful lives are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimated
future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair
value of the asset. There was no impairment charge for the periods ended June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
Assets Held For Sale
In connection with a strategy to reduce debt, the Company decided to sell machinery and equipment held at its Shreveport,
Louisiana facility that will not be used during production. The carrying value of the machinery and equipment held for sale is
stated at its lower of cost or fair value less cost to sell of $2,807 and $56,107, which is shown as “Assets held for sale” at June 30,
2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, in the accompanying balance sheets in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 360,
Property, Plant, and Equipment. The estimated value is based on negotiations with potential buyers. The amount that the
Company will ultimately realize could differ materially from the amount recorded in the financial statements. The Company
anticipates disposing of all assets held for sale within one year.
For the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 sales of excess has equipment has totaled $53,300 and $113,708,
respectively.
Accounting for Debt/Proceeds Allocation
The Company accounts for the issuance of debt with detachable warrants under FASB ASC Subtopic 470-20, Debt with
Conversion and Other Options (“ASC 470-20”). Pursuant to ASC 470-20, the warrants issued in connection with the related
party debt (Note 7) are accounted for as equity due to the stock settlement available to the holder. The Company used the BlackScholes option pricing model as the valuation model to estimate the fair value of the warrants. These warrants were fair valued
on the issuance date and recorded at the relative fair value of the warrants and underlying related party promissory notes. The
warrants are not subsequently revalued.
Debt Issuance Costs
Deferred financing costs are legal and other costs incurred in connection with obtaining new financing. During 2015, FASB
Accounting Standards Update 2015-03, Interest—Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30) (“ASU 2015-03”) was issued. ASU
2015-03 simplifies the presentation of debt issuance costs and requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt
liability be presented in the accompanying balance sheets as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability,
consistent with debt discounts. ASU 2015-03 does not change the accounting
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ELIO MOTORS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
for amortization of the debt issuance costs. The Company amortizes the debt issuance costs to interest expense over the term of
the respective note payable using the effective yield method. Deferred financing costs amortized to interest expense amounted to
$31,820 and $512,148 for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Beneficial Conversion Feature
From time to time, the Company may issue convertible notes that may have conversion prices that create an embedded
beneficial conversion feature pursuant to FASB ASC Subtopic 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options. A beneficial
conversion feature (“BCF”) exists on the date a convertible note is issued when the fair value of the underlying common stock to
which the note is convertible is in excess of the conversion price. In accordance with this guidance, the intrinsic value of the BCF
is recorded as a debt discount with a corresponding amount to common stock. The debt discount is amortized to interest expense
over the life of the note using the effective interest method. The Company’s convertible notes also contain a down round feature,
which requires the BCF to be revalued at the time the down round is triggered. This additional BCF is recorded as a debt
discount and amortized to interest over the remaining life of the note.
Down Round Feature
The Company elected the early adoption of ASU 2017-11 Earnings Per Share, Distinguishing Liability from Equity,
Derivatives and Hedging: I. Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Down Round Features and II. Replacement of
the Indefinite Deferral for Mandatorily Redeemable Financial Instruments of Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain
Mandatorily Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest with a Scope Exception (“ASU 2017-11”). ASU 2017-11 amends FASB ASC
Topic 260, Earnings per Share, (“ASC 260”) to incorporate new guidance relevant to freestanding equity classified financial
instruments with down round features and conversion options in convertible debt. This applies only to entities that are required to
or voluntarily present earnings per share (EPS). Each time a down round feature is triggered in a freestanding equity classified
financial instrument, the effect is accounted for by an entity that presents EPS as a dividend through a reduction to retained
earnings and an increase to the instrument’s carrying amount. This amount also reduces income available to common
shareholders in basic EPS. The carrying amount of the equity classified instrument is not subject to further adjustment unless the
down round feature is triggered again.
The amount recognized as a dividend is the difference between the following two amounts determined in accordance with
FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, immediately after the down round feature is triggered: (1) the fair value of the
financial instrument (ignoring the down round feature) with the strike price that was in effect before the strike price reduction;
and (2) the fair value of the financial instrument (ignoring the down round feature) with the reduced strike price resulting from
the down round being triggered.
Warrants
The Company accounts for warrants with anti-dilution (“down round”) provisions under the guidance of FASB ASC Topic
815, Derivatives and Hedging, (“ASC 815”) which as a result of amendments made by ASU 2017-11 require freestanding equity
linked financial instruments to no longer be accounted for as a derivative liability at fair value as a result of the down round
feature.
The Company used the Monte Carlo method to calculate fair value and accounts for the issuance of common stock purchase
warrants issued in connection with capital financing transactions in accordance with the provisions of ASC 815.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue from products sold when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered, the sales price is determinable and collection is reasonably assured. Deposits collected
in advance of the period in which the product is delivered are recorded as a liability under refundable and nonrefundable deposits.
Nonrefundable deposits are not considered revenue because the Company has not fulfilled their obligation to the customer as
production is not expected to begin until the fourth quarter of 2019 as further discussed in Note 5.
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ELIO MOTORS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Such costs, which amounted to $557,736 and $884,156 for the six months ended
June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, are included in sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying statements of
operations.
Research and Development Costs
In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 730, Research and Development, (“ASC 730”) research and development costs are
expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses consist of purchased technology, purchased research and development
rights and outside services for research and development activities associated with product development. In accordance with ASC
730, the cost to purchase such technology and research and development rights are required to be charged to expense if there is
currently no alternative future use for this technology and, therefore, no separate economic value. Research and development
costs amounted to $632,401 and $1,183,676 for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Loss per Common Share
The Company computes loss per common share, in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share, (“ASC
260”) which requires dual presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share. Basic income or loss per common share is
computed by dividing net income or loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted income or loss per common share is computed by dividing net income or loss by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding, plus the issuance of common shares, if dilutive, that could result from the exercise of outstanding
stock options and warrants. These potentially dilutive securities were not included in the calculation of loss per common share for
the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 because their effect would be anti-dilutive.
The outstanding securities consist of the following:
Six Months Ended June 30,
2018

Outstanding convertible notes
Outstanding options
Outstanding warrants
Series C convertible preferred stock
Series D convertible preferred stock
Total potentially dilutive securities

597,448
648,380
2,217,782
435,036
96,380
3,995,026

2017

288,625
389,000
2,084,691
435,036
96,380
3,293,732

Income Taxes
The Company is taxed as a C corporation in the United States of America. The Company uses the asset and liability method
of accounting for income taxes in accordance with FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”). Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between financial statement carrying amounts
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized as income or expense in the period
that includes the enactment date. The realizability of deferred tax assets is assessed throughout the year and a valuation
allowance is established as necessary.
The Company follows the requirements of ASC 740, which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes
recognized in a company’s financial statements and prescribes a recognition threshold of more likely than not and a measurement
process for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected
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ELIO MOTORS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
to be taken in a tax return. In making this assessment, the Company must determine whether it is more likely than not that a tax
position will be sustained upon examination, based solely on the technical merits of the position. Management believes that the
Company has taken no uncertain tax positions as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 and therefore no accruals have been
made in the financial statements related to uncertain tax positions.
Stock-based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with FASB ASC 718 Compensation – Stock
Compensation (“ASC 718”), which establishes accounting for equity instruments exchanged for employee services. Under such
provisions, stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on the calculated fair value of the award, and is
recognized as an expense, under the straight-line method, over the employee’s requisite service period (generally the vesting
period of the equity grant).
The Company accounts for equity instruments, including restricted stock or stock options, issued to non-employees in
accordance with authoritative guidance for equity based payments to non-employees. Stock options issued to non-employees are
accounted for at their calculated fair value of the award.
The Company has, from time to time, modified the terms of stock options granted to employees. The Company accounts for
the incremental increase in the fair value over the original award on the date of the modification as an expense for vested awards,
or over the remaining service (vesting) period for unvested awards. The incremental compensation cost is the excess of the fair
value of the modified award on the date of modification over the fair value of the original award immediately before the
modification.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (“ASU 2016-02”). The amendments in this ASU revise the
accounting related to lessee accounting. Under the new guidance, lessees will be required to recognize a lease liability and a
right-of-use asset for all leases. The new lease guidance also simplified the accounting for sale and leaseback transactions
primarily because lessees must recognize lease assets and lease liabilities. The amendments in this ASU are effective for us
beginning on January 1, 2019 and should be applied through a modified retrospective transition approach for leases existing at, or
entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements. Based on our
preliminary assessment, we do not expect this new standard to have a material impact on our financial statements or related
disclosures.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows: Restricted Cash (“ASU 2016-18”). ASU
2016-18 requires the Statement of Cash Flows to explain the change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents and
amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. Therefore, restricted cash or cash equivalents
should be included with cash and cash equivalents when recording the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts on
the Statement of Cash Flows. ASU 2016-18 will be effective for the Company on January 1, 2018 and is not expected to have a
significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.
In July 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-11, Earnings Per Share, Distinguishing Liability from Equity, Derivatives
and Hedging: I. Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Down Round Features and II. Replacement of the Indefinite
Deferral for Mandatorily Redeemable Financial Instruments of Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatorily
Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest with a Scope Exception. (“ASU 2017-11”) Part I applies to entities that issued financial
instruments such as warrants, convertible debt or convertible preferred stock that contain down round features. As a result of
ASU 2017-11 freestanding equity-linked financial instruments, such as warrants and conversion options in convertible debt or
preferred stock, should no longer be accounted for as a derivative liability at fair values as a result of the existence of a down
round feature.
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NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
The Company elected the early adoption of ASU 2017-11 as of January 1, 2017. ASU 2017-11 permits the amendments to
be applied retrospectively to outstanding financial instruments with a down round feature by means of a cumulative-effect
adjustment to the statement of financial position as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. As of January 1, 2017 the
increase to additional paid-in capital from the cumulative-effect adjustment from adopting ASU 2017-11 is $838,833.
NOTE 4 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consist of the following at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:
June 30,
2018

Facility under capital sublease
Machinery and equipment
Vehicles
Computer equipment and software
Total property and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation
Machinery and equipment, net
Facility under capital sublease, net

$

$
$

4,511,473 $
11,897,632
49,532
57,710
16,516,346
(1,179,853)
11,969,031 $
3,367,462 $

December 31,
2017

6,295,142
11,897,632
49,532
57,710
18,300,016
(1,091,342)
11,975,409
5,233,265

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment held for use amounted to $88,511 $130,979 for the six months
ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. There was no depreciation and amortization expense related to manufacturing
machinery and equipment held for future production at the Company’s Shreveport, Louisiana facility. For the periods ended June
30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Shreveport manufacturing machinery and equipment held for future production totaled
$11,897,632. Included in the June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 balance of machinery and equipment is $871,682 in assets
management has identified will not be used in production. This amount is not classified as assets held for sale because
management does not believe the sale of assets is probable within one year. The Company plans to start production in the fourth
quarter of 2019 at which time the manufacturing machinery and equipment will be placed in service.
At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company conducted a review of the machinery and equipment held for sale. Based on the
review, the Company had no impairment charge for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017. The assets to be disposed of
include conveyance systems, robotics and controllers, and general manufacturing equipment held in the Shreveport Louisiana
facility. The Company reviewed the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be received at the disposition of the
assets to determine the potential for an asset impairment.
NOTE 5 – CUSTOMER DEPOSITS
The Company has received customer deposits ranging from $100 to $1,000 per order for purposes of securing their vehicle
production slot. As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company received refundable deposits of $1,182,550 and
$1,198,750, respectively, which are refundable upon demand. Refundable deposits are included in current liabilities in the
accompanying balance sheets. As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company received nonrefundable deposits of
$26,903,300 and $26,859,412, respectively. The nonrefundable deposits are included in long term liabilities in the accompanying
balance sheets since the Company has not fulfilled their obligation to the customer as production is not expected to begin until
the fourth quarter of 2019, and is under no obligation to return the deposit to the customer. As further discussed in Note 15
Commitments and Contingencies: Sales Discounts, the Company provides a sales discount for nonrefundable deposit customers
up to 50% of the nonrefundable deposit, up to $500 per deposit. As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, future committed
sales discounts offered amounted to approximately $16,637,455 and $15,626,030, respectively.
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NOTE 6 – FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The Company groups its assets and liabilities generally measured at fair value in three levels, based on the markets in which
the assets and liabilities are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value.
Level 1—Valuation is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 1 assets and liabilities
generally include debt and equity securities that are traded in an active exchange market. Valuations are obtained from readily
available pricing sources for market transactions involving identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2—Valuation is based on observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable
market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
Level 3—Valuation is based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant
to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. Level 3 assets and liabilities include financial instruments whose value is determined
using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the
determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation.
The following table presents the Company’s fair value hierarchy for applicable assets measured at fair value as of June 30,
2018.
Level 1

Assets held for sale
Machinery and equipment

$
$

—
—

Level 2

$
$

—
—

Level 3

$
$

2,807
871,682

Total

$
$

2,807
871,682

The following table presents the Company’s fair value hierarchy for applicable assets measured at fair value as of December
31, 2017.
Level 1

Assets held for sale
Machinery and equipment

$
$

—
—

Level 2

$
$

—
—

Level 3

$
$

56,107
871,682

Total

$
$

56,107
871,682

The Company’s recurring Level 3 instruments assets held for sale, and machinery and equipment. Assets held for sale, and
machinery and equipment identified to be sold, are being measured at fair value using the unobservable level 3 inputs by
estimating the physical condition, functional and economic obsolescence, and the undiscounted cash flow expected from the sale
of assets.
NOTE 7 – NOTES PAYABLE DUE TO RELATED PARTY
CH Capital Lending, LLC
On February 28, 2013, in connection with the acquisition of certain machinery and equipment, the Company entered into a
promissory note with GemCap Lending I, LLC, (“GemCap”), for $9,850,000. The note was secured by a first priority lien on
certain machinery and equipment with an original value of $11,659,705 and was personally guaranteed by a stockholder. The
note incurred interest at 15% per annum, payable monthly. All outstanding principal and interest was due upon maturity on
February 28, 2014.
On February 27, 2014, the Company entered into the second amendment to the promissory note, which extended the
maturity date to May 31, 2014 and reduced the interest rate to 12% per annum. On May 31, 2014, the Company entered into the
third amendment to the promissory note, which extended the maturity date to July 31, 2014.
On August 1, 2014, CH Capital Lending, LLC, (“CH Capital”) owned by a director and stockholder, purchased the
$9,850,000 promissory note from GemCap. On August 1, 2014, the Company and CH Capital entered into the fourth amendment
to the promissory note, which extended the maturity date to July 31, 2015 and reduced the interest rate to 10% per annum.
On July 31, 2015, the Company entered into a forbearance agreement with CH Capital, which deferred the enforcement of
the collection of the promissory note until July 31, 2016. On November 10, 2016, the Company
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NOTE 7 – NOTES PAYABLE DUE TO RELATED PARTY (continued)
entered into a loan extension agreement, which extended and amended the maturity date to July 29, 2017, with monthly payments
of $50,000 commencing January 1, 2017. In addition to the monthly payments, the Company agreed that within five business
days of the receipt of net proceeds of at least $25,000,000, in the aggregate from one or more offerings of the Company’s debt or
equity securities, the Company shall remit a payment equal to the lessor of $2,000,000 or five percent of the net proceeds from
the offerings.
On April 27, 2017 the Company entered into a second loan extension agreement with CH Capital, which extended and
amended the maturity date to July 31, 2018. The agreement also allows for one option to further extend the maturity date until
September 28, 2018 upon written notice and a payment of $125,000 to CH Capital on or before July 31, 2018. The loan extension
also waived the $50,000 monthly payments that were due under the November 10, 2016 agreement, and replaced the payment of
$2,000,000 or five percent of the net proceeds from an offering of at least $25,000,000, with a payment of $1,250,000 upon the
receipt of net proceeds of at least $25,000,000, in the aggregate from one or more offerings of the Company’s debt or equity
securities.
The agreement further required a payment of $1,250,000, on or before July 31, 2017. This amount may include the
payments made upon the receipt of net proceeds from an offering of at least $25,000,000. If the Company failed to make the July
31, 2017 payment of $1,250,000, the Company agreed to pay $350,000 on or before August 1, 2017 and $50,000 per month
thereafter.
On August 11, 2017 the Company entered into the first amendment to the second loan extension agreement, in which CH
Capital extended the due date of the $350,000 payment from August 1, 2017 to November 1, 2017, and $50,000 per month
thereafter.
On April 30, 2018 the Company entered into the second amendment to the second loan extension agreement with CH
Capital, which extended the due date of the $650,000 due under the first amendment of the second loan extension until July 31,
2018. As of June 30, 2018, as a condition of the foregoing extension, the Company has paid $212,500 to CH Capital, which shall
be applied to and reduce the $650,000 owed by the Company to $437,500. The agreement further obligated to Company to pay
CH Capital $50,000 per month, no later than the first day of each month.
On November 7, 2018 the Company entered into the third amendment to the second loan extension agreement with CH
Capital, which extended the due date of the $437,500 due under the second amendment of the second loan extension until
December 14, 2018. As a condition of the foregoing extension, in lieu of the remaining payments due under the second
amendment of the second loan extension, the Company shall pay $2,500,000 on December 14, 2018. The agreement further
obligated to Company to pay CH Capital $50,000 per month, no later than the first day of each month, beginning January 1,
2019.
Interest expense incurred on this note for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 amounted to $202,985 and
$222,197, respectively.
As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company has applied cumulative payments of $5,787,293 and $5,739,243
in principal payments from the sale of machinery and equipment held for sale in the Shreveport Louisiana facility. The senior
promissory note of $3,850,207 and $4,110,757 is reflected as notes due to related party in the accompanying balance sheets at
June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
Stuart Lichter
On June 19, 2014, the Company entered into a promissory note agreement with a director and stockholder of the Company
for $600,000. The promissory note is secured by any and all accounts, receivables, and/or deposits and incurs interest at 10% per
annum. All accrued interest and unpaid principal are payable upon maturity. The note matured on December 31, 2014, but was
amended and the maturity date was extended to January 31, 2019.
The outstanding principal and interest amounted to $600,000 and $246,944, respectively, at June 30, 2018 and $600,000 and
$216,778, respectively, at December 31, 2017. Interest expense incurred on the note for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017 amounted to $30,167, and $30,167, respectively.
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On March 6, 2014, the Company entered into a promissory note agreement with a director and stockholder of the Company
for $1,000,500. The promissory note is unsecured and incurs interest at 10% per annum. All accrued interest and unpaid principal
are payable upon maturity at January 31, 2019. The outstanding principal and interest amounted to $1,000,500 and $362,997,
respectively, at June 30, 2018 and $1,000,500 and $312,694, respectively, at December 31, 2017. Interest expense incurred on
the note for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 amounted to $50,303 and $50,303, respectively.
On May 30, 2014, the Company entered into a promissory note agreement with a director and stockholder of the Company
for $300,000. The promissory note is unsecured and incurs interest at 10% per annum. All accrued interest and unpaid principal
is payable upon maturity at January 31, 2019. The outstanding principal and interest amounted to $300,000 and $115,222,
respectively, at June 30, 2018 and $300,000 and $100,139, respectively, at December 31, 2017. Interest expense incurred on the
note for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 amounted to $15,083 and $15,083, respectively.
The $1,000,500 and $300,000 promissory notes described above were issued with detachable warrants. See Note 11 for
additional information regarding the warrants.
The following summarizes related party notes payable outstanding as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:
June 30,
2018

Secured promissory note, dated February 28, 2013, bearing interest at 10% annually, payable
on July 31, 2018
$
Unsecured promissory note, dated March 6, 2014, bearing interest at 10% annually, payable
on January 31, 2019
Unsecured promissory note, dated May 30, 2014, bearing interest at 10%, payable on January
31, 2019
Secured promissory note, dated June 4, 2014 , bearing interest at 10%, payable on January
31, 2019
$
Total related party notes payable
Less: current portion of related party notes payable
$
Long-term portion notes payable due to related party

3,850,207

December 31,
2017

$

4,110,757

1,000,500

1,000,500

300,000

300,000

600,000
5,750,707

600,000
6,011,257

$

(5,750,707)
— $

(4,110,757)
1,900,500

NOTE 8 – NOTES PAYABLE
Racer Trust
On March 3, 2013, in connection with the acquisition of certain machinery and equipment, the Company entered into a
promissory note with the Revitalizing Auto Communities Environmental Response Trust (“Racer”) for $23,000,000. The
promissory note is secured by a subordinated lien on the manufacturing machinery and equipment held in Shreveport, Louisiana.
The note is non-interest bearing. Among the terms of the Company’s purchase agreement with Racer was an agreement to use
and develop the property so as to create at least 1,500 new jobs. See Note 15 for addition information on the Creation of New
Jobs. As part of the subordination agreement Racer requires all proceeds from the sale of manufacturing machinery and
equipment held in Shreveport, Louisiana to be first applied to the outstanding principal balance on the CH Capital Lending, LLC
note.
In accordance with FASB ASC Subtopic 835-30, Imputation of Interest, a discount of $7,095,524 was recorded to reflect an
imputed interest rate of 12% per annum which was based on the Company’s credit, collateral, terms of repayment and similar
prevailing market rates at the time the loan agreement was executed. The outstanding balance, unamortized debt discount, and
deferred loan costs amounted to $21,126,147, $0, and $0 respectively, at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
On November 1, 2013, the Company missed a required monthly minimum payment triggering default interest of 18% per
annum in accordance with the promissory note agreement. The default was cured in December 2013;
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NOTE 8 – NOTES PAYABLE (continued)
however, default interest remained in effect throughout 2014. On January 1, 2015, the Company missed a required monthly
minimum payment triggering interest of 18% per annum in accordance with the promissory note agreement. The outstanding
principal balance continued to bear default interest of 18% until payments resumed on January 1, 2016.
On March 17, 2015, the Company entered into the second amendment to the subordinated promissory note with Racer. The
second amendment delayed the monthly minimum payments from January 1, 2015 until January 1, 2016. The second amendment
also extended the maturity date from September 1, 2016 to July 1, 2017. The outstanding principal balance shall continue to bear
default interest of 18% per annum until the payments are resumed on January 1, 2016. The Company was late on the September
and October 2016 payments, which triggered default interest to be charged on the loan at 18% per annum.
On May 31, 2017, the Company entered into the third amendment to the subordinated promissory note with Racer. The
third amendment extended the maturity date of the note until July 31, 2018. On May 31, 2017, the Company also entered into the
first forbearance agreement of the third amendment. The forbearance agreement, Racer extended payments until July 31, 2017,
with monthly payments of $173,455 commencing August 1, 2017. Default interest of 18% per annum will continue to accrue as
of October 1, 2016. If the Company received net proceeds of at least $25 million in the aggregate from one or more offerings of
equity or debt on or before July 31, 2017, the Company shall pay to Racer, the sum of the unpaid monthly amounts due to Racer
from October 2016 to July 2017, a total of $1,752,346.
On July 1, 2017, the second forbearance agreement of the third amendment was signed with Racer that extended the
payment until September 30, 2017, with monthly payments commencing October 1, 2017, and a payment of $2,099,256 due
September 30, 2017. Default interest of 18% per annum will continue accruing as of October 1, 2016. In consideration for the
July 1, 2017 agreement, the Company assigned as additional collateral all trademarks and trade names including, but not limited
to, “Elio Design” and “Elio Motors”.
On September 30, 2017, the Company amended the forbearance agreement with Racer extending the payments until January
1, 2018, provided that the Company pay to Racer a $10,000 monthly administrative fee for October 2017, November 2017, and
December 2017. Default interest of 18% per annum will continue accruing as of October 1, 2017.
On January 1, 2018, the Company entered into an additional amendment to the forbearance agreement with Racer. Under
the terms of the amendment the Company shall pay Racer on or before July 10, 2018, a total of $3,934,256, which is the sum of
the unpaid monthly amounts and late fees due to Racer, with the remaining outstanding principal and accrued interest due July
31, 2018. On August 1, 2018, the Company entered into an additional amendment to the promissory note, which deferred
payment of the note for a period of an additional five months, such that the entire balance of principal and interest shall be due in
full on December 31, 2018.
Accrued default interest under the subordinated promissory note amounted to $15,137,029 and $12,005,432 at June 30, 2018
and December 31, 2017, respectively. Default interest expense incurred amounted to approximately $3,131,597, and $2,580,824
for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The following summarizes notes payable outstanding as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:
June 30,
2018

Secured promissory note, dated March 3, 2013, non-interest bearing, default interest at 18%
annually, payable on July 10, 2018
Current portion notes payable due to related party, net of unamortized debt discount and
deferred loan costs
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December 31,
2017

$

21,126,147

$

21,126,147

$

21,126,147

$

21,126,147
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NOTE 9 – CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE
Convertible Subordinated Secured Notes Payable
On March 2, 2015, the Company offered up to $30,000,000 of 5% Convertible Subordinated Secured Notes (the
“Convertible Subordinated Notes”), due September 30, 2022, unless earlier converted to common shares by the holder pursuant
to their terms, in a private placement to accredited investors. The first $5,000,000 (Tier 1) in Convertible Subordinated Notes
have a conversion price of $5.98, the next $10,000,000 (Tier 2) in Convertible Subordinated Notes have a $9.65 conversion
price, and the last $15,000,000 (Tier 3) in Convertible Subordinated Notes have a $12.98 conversion price. The Convertible
Subordinated Notes contain a repricing provision, such that if the Company issues shares of its common stock at a price per share
lower than the conversion price, then the conversion price shall be reduced to an amount equal to such consideration. The
Company closed offering the Convertible Subordinated Notes in December 2015. The Convertible Subordinated Notes are senior
secured obligations of the Company, subordinate only to a first lien obligation to CH Capital Lending, LLC and a second lien
obligation to Racer.
As the close of the offering the Company issued $5,000,560 of Tier 1 Convertible Subordinated Notes and $341,000 of Tier
2 Convertible Subordinated Notes. Net proceeds from the Convertible Subordinated Notes was $4,628,151 for Tier 1 and
$286,250 for Tier 2, net of transaction fees. The Convertible Subordinated Notes balance is $1,642,981 and $1,657,981 as of
June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. The issuance costs and the related beneficial conversion feature is
$1,252,570 and $1,411,034 as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. Accrued interest as of June 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, amounted to $241,192 and $201,927, respectively.
A beneficial conversion feature discount of $5,000,560 and $112,841 was recorded for the Tier 1 and Tier 2 Convertible
Subordinated Notes, respectively. The unamortized balance of the beneficial conversion feature discount amounted to $951,247
and $52,236 for Tier 1 and Tier 2, respectively, as of June 30, 2018. The unamortized balance of the beneficial conversion
feature discount amounted to $1,073,504 and $56,624 for Tier 1 and Tier 2, respectively, as of December 31, 2017. The
beneficial conversion feature discount is being amortized as interest expense over the terms of the Convertible Subordinated
Notes using the effective interest method with an imputed interest rate of 11.6% on the Tier 2 Convertible Subordinated Notes.
Tier 1 issuance costs attributable to the debt component were recorded as a deferred loan cost asset, as the beneficial
conversion feature and the issuance costs are in excess of the Tier 1 Convertible Subordinated Notes, and are being amortized as
interest expense over the term of the Convertible Subordinated Notes. Tier 2 issuance costs attributable to the debt component
were recorded as a direct deduction to the related debt liability and are being amortized as interest expense over the term of the
Convertible Subordinated Notes.
As of June 30, 2018, the Company has converted $3,428,579 of principal and $268,145 of accrued interest from its Tier 1
Convertible Subordinated Notes into 621,598 shares of the Company’s common stock. As of June 30, 2018, the Company
converted $270,000 of principal and $14,831 of accrued interest from its Tier 2 Convertible Subordinated Notes into 30,548
shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company has $1,571,981 and $71,000 outstanding of the Tier 1 and Tier 2
Convertible Subordinated Notes, respectively as of June 30, 2018. There have been no conversion subsequent to June 30, 2018.
As of December 31, 2017, the Company has converted $3,413,579 of principal and $265,755 of accrued interest from its
Tier 1 Convertible Subordinated Notes into 615,275 shares of the Company’s common stock. As of December 31, 2017 the
Company converted $270,000 of principal and $14,831 of accrued interest from its Tier 2 Convertible Subordinated Notes into
30,548 shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company has $1,586,981 and $71,000 outstanding of the Tier 1 and Tier 2
Convertible Subordinated Notes, respectively as of December 31, 2017.
On April 24, 2018, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the Company issued
shares of Elio common stock at $2.75 per share in a private placement. The private placement triggered the
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repricing provision on the outstanding Tier 1 and Tier 2 Convertible Subordinated Notes, reducing the conversion price from
$5.98 per share of common stock to $2.75 per share of common stock. The repricing provision of the Tier 1 and Tier 2
Convertible Subordinated Notes will increase the number of potential shares outstanding from 262,873 to 571,630 and 11,873 to
25,818, respectively.
On March 31, 2017, the Company issued shares common stock to a director and stockholder of the Company for $5.98 per
share of common stock. The private placement triggered the repricing provision on the Tier 2 Convertible Subordinated Notes,
reducing the conversion from $9.65 per share of common stock to $5.98 per share of common stock. At the time the repricing
provision was triggered, the Company valued the beneficial conversion feature at $25,455. This amount will be amortized over
the remaining term of the Tier 2 convertible notes. The repricing provision of the Tier 2 Convertible Subordinated Notes
increased the number of potential shares outstanding from 7,358 to 11,873.
Convertible Unsecured Notes Payable - 2017
Beginning in August 2017 through December 31, 2017, the Company received advances evidenced by Convertible
Unsecured Note (“Convertible Unsecured Notes”) to directors and stockholders of the company. The Convertible Unsecured
Notes can be converted into common stock at a conversion price equal to the lessor of (i) seventy-five percent (75%) of the per
share price at which common stock is offered by the Company to the public pursuant to the registration statement filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 3, 2017 or (ii) the average trading price for the common stock during the ten
(10) trading day period ending one trading day prior to the date of conversion. The Convertible Unsecured Notes can be
voluntarily converted at any time commencing six months after the original issue date and have a two year maturity date. The
Convertible Unsecured Notes incur interest, payable upon maturity at 5% per annum on the principal amount.
As of December 31, 2017, the Convertible Unsecured Notes issued total $887,000. Accrued interest as of December 31,
2017 amounted to $10,438. The Company received additional advances totaling $788,000 subsequent to December 31, 2017.
Concurrent with the Board’s approval of the April 24, 2018 private placement of common stock, as discussed in Note 13, the
Board also approved an amendment to all outstanding Unsecured Convertible Notes. The Board approved a resolution which
permitted the outstanding notes to be converted at $2.75, the same price at which common stock was sold in the private
placement. On April 25, 2018, all outstanding note holders converted $1,675,000 of principal and $32,563 of accrued interest into
620,932 shares of common stock. As of the date of this filing there were no Convertible Unsecured Notes outstanding.
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The following summarizes convertible notes payable outstanding as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:
December 31,
2017

Convertible subordinated secured promissory note, issued 2015, bearing interest at 5%
annually, payable on September 30, 2022, convertible into common stock at a conversion
price of $5.98 per share of common stock
Convertible unsecured notes payable, issued 2017, bearing interest at 5% annually, payable
two years from issuance date, convertible into common stock at a conversion price equal
to the lesser of (i) seventy-five percent (75%) of the per share price at which common
stock is offered by the Company to the public pursuant to the registration statement filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 3, 2017 or (ii) the average
trading price for the common stock during the ten (10) trading day period ending one
trading day prior to the date of conversion
Convertible notes payable before unamortized debt discount and deferred loan costs
Less: unamortized debt discount
Less: deferred loan costs
Long-term portion convertible notes payable, net of discounts and deferred loan costs

$

$

1,642,981

December 31,
2017

$

—
1,642,921
(1,003,484)
(249,086)
390,411 $

1,657,981

887,000
2,544,981
(1,130,128)
(280,906)
1,133,947

NOTE 10 – CAPITAL SUBLEASE OBLIGATION
On December 27, 2013, the Company entered into a noncancelable long term capital sublease agreement with a related
party for its manufacturing facility in Shreveport, Louisiana with an aggregate cost of $7,500,000, which is based on the recent
selling price of the property. The imputed interest under the capital sublease amounted to 26.4%. Initial sublease payments are
waived until the earlier of the start of production or August 1, 2015, after which sublease payments of $249,344 are payable
monthly. The capital sublease payments increase by 3% on each 10 year anniversary of the sublease commencement date. The
sublease expires on December 27, 2038 and includes two 25 year options to extend.
The Company recognized $1,368,958 and $1,288,243 in interest expense under this sublease agreement for the six months
ended June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, which is included in current and long term interest payable on the
accompanying balance sheets at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
On July 31, 2015, the Company entered into an amendment to the capital sublease agreement. The amendment abated the
monthly sublease payments of $249,344 from August 1, 2015 through January 1, 2016. Monthly payments for the period
February 1, 2016 through July 31, 2016 were deferred and payable in full on August 1, 2016 under the amendment. As a result of
the sublease amendment, the Company recorded an adjustment to reduce the capital sublease obligation and the respective
facility under capital sublease by $1,477,323, which represents the change in the present value of the amended minimum lease
payments in accordance with FASB ASC Subtopic 840-30-35, Capital Leases.
On November 17, 2016, the Company entered into a second amendment to the capital sublease agreement. The amendment
converted accrued sublease payments of $2,742,781 and accrued and common area maintenance charges, property taxes,
insurance (“lease charges”), late fees and interest of $4,812,806 into 435,036 shares of the Company’s Series C Convertible
Preferred Stock valued at $7,330,987 and a warrant to purchase 25,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The Series C
Convertible Preferred Stock convert into an equal number of shares of the Company’s common stock. The conversion prepaid
the December 1, 2016 sublease payment and lease charges. The aggregate fair value attributed to these detachable warrants was
$224,600 at the grant date. See Note 11 for additional information regarding the warrants.
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The November 17, 2016 amendment will also prepay projected sublease payments of $2,992,125 and prepay projected lease
charges of $598,324 and convert them into 96,380 shares of the Company’s Series D Convertible Preferred Stock valued at
$3,590,449, which convert into an equal number of shares of the Company’s common stock. This conversion was effective on
January 1, 2017 and prepaid the sublease payments and lease charges through December 31, 2017. As a result of the second
sublease amendment, the Company recorded an adjustment to increase the capital sublease obligation and the respective facility
under capital sublease by $272,465, which represents the change in the present value of the amended minimum lease payments in
accordance with FASB ASC Subtopic 840-30-35, Capital Leases.
On December 28, 2017, the Company entered into the third amendment with Shreveport Business Park, LLC. Under the
third amendment of the leased space shall be reduced by 152,557 square feet effective January 1, 2018. As a result of the
reduction in square feet, the base rent shall be $211,205. As a result of the third sublease amendment, effective January 1, 2018,
the Company recorded an adjustment to decrease the capital sublease obligation and respective facility under capital sublease by
$1,200,724, which represents the change in the present value of the amended minimum lease payments in accordance with FASB
ASC Subtopic 840-30-35, Capital Subleases.
On April 30, 2018, the Company entered into the fourth amendment with Shreveport Business Park, LLC. The terms of the
new agreement deferred the monthly lease and lease related charges beginning January 1, 2018 through July 31, 2018. On May 3,
2018, as a condition of the foregoing amendment, the Company paid $387,811 to Shreveport Business Park and agreed to an
additional payment of $1,848,100 on or before July 31, 2018. The agreement stipulates that monthly payments shall begin on
August 1, 2018.
On November 7, 2018, the Company entered into the fifth amendment with Shreveport Business Park, LLC. The terms of
the new agreement deferred the monthly lease and lease related charges beginning January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018.
As a condition of the foregoing amendment, the Company has agreed to pay $2,530,656 on or before December 14, 2018. The
agreement stipulates that monthly payments shall begin on January 1, 2019.
For the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company incurred common area maintenance charges, property tax,
and insurance expense of $339,434 and $299,162, respectively. Facility under capital sublease as of June 30, 2018 and December
31, 2017, is $4,511,473 and $6,295,142. Accumulated depreciation as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, is $1,144,010
and $1,061,876, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded depreciation expense
of $82,133 and $124,601, respectively.
Future minimum sublease payments under the noncancelable capital sublease are as follows:
Years ending December 31,

2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Thereafter
Total minimum sublease payments
Less: amount representing interest
Capital sublease obligation

$

$
F-19

2,569,923
2,534,454
2,534,454
2,534,454
2,534,454
42,237,690
54,945,429
(50,433,956)
4,511,473
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The Company follows FASB ASC Subtopic 815-40, Contract in An Entity’s Own Equity, as it relates to outstanding
warrants.
In connection with the Shreveport Business Park, LLC second capital sublease amendment, which occurred on November
17, 2016, the Company issued a warrants to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $20.00 per share.
These warrants are exercisable, in whole or in part at any time up until the expiration of the warrant agreement at November 17,
2021. The aggregate fair value attributed to these warrants was $224,600 at the grant date. These warrants are classified as equity
in the accompanying balance sheets.
The fair value for the warrants issued was calculated using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions:
Dividend yield
Volatility
Risk free interest rate
Expected life

0.00%
85.00%
1.72%
5 years

As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, none of the warrants had been exercised.
In May 2016, as consideration for a personal guaranty in the amount of $5,000,000 given by a director and stockholder of
the company to induce a credit card processor to release $4,000,000 of reserved funds, the Company issued warrants to purchase
58,824 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $17.00 per share. These warrants are exercisable, in whole or in part at any
time up until the expiration of the warrant agreement in May, 2021. The aggregate fair value attributed to these warrants was
$820,360 at the grant date. These warrants are classified as equity in the accompanying balance sheets.
The fair value for the warrants issued was calculated using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions:
Dividend yield
Volatility
Risk free interest rate
Expected life

0.00%
82.00%
1.00%
5 years

As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, none of the warrants had been exercised.
In connection with the November 2015 Regulation A stock offering of 1,410,048 shares of the Company's common stock at
a price of $ 12.00 per share, the Company issued an aggregate of warrants to purchase 21,408 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $12.00 per share to the intermediary technology platform provider. 10,708 of the warrants expire 3 years from
the grant date and 10,700 of the warrants expire 7 years from the grant date. These warrants contain provisions that protect
holders from a decline in the issue price of the Company’s common stock (“down-round” provision). Due to these down-round
provisions, on the grant date the Company accounted for these warrants as liabilities instead of equity. On January 1, 2017 the
Company retrospectively applied the guidance of ASU 2017-11 to the outstanding financial instruments and reclassified the
derivative liability of $25,540 at January 1, 2017 to additional paid-in capital.
The January 1, 2017 fair value for the warrants issued was calculated using the Monte Carlo Simulation model with the
following assumptions:
Dividend yield
0.00%
Volatility
80.00% - 83.00%
Risk free interest rate
1.20% - 2.09%
Expected life
2.05 - 6.13 years
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As of June 30, 2018, 18,384 warrants were exercised using the cashless conversion option, resulting in the Company issuing
an additional 8,012 shares of common stock.
On March 31, 2017, the Company issued common stock in a private placement offering to a director and stockholder of the
Company. The common stock was issued at $5.98 per share. The issuance triggered the “down-round” provision in the
outstanding warrants, and reduced the exercise price from $12.00 per share to $5.98 per share and increased the number of shares
issuable under these warrants by 3,044. Due to the early adoption of ASU 2017-11, the Company recognized as a dividend of
$17,745, which is the change the fair value immediately after the down round feature was triggered.
On April 24, 2018, the Company issued common stock in a private placement offering. The common stock was issued at
$2.75 per share. The issuance triggered the “down-round” provision in the outstanding warrants, and reduced the exercise price
from $5.98 per share to $2.75 per share and increased the number of shares issuable under these warrants by 7,128. Due to the
early adoption of ASU 2017-11, the Company recognized as a dividend of $2,718, which is the change the fair value
immediately after the down round feature was triggered.
In connection with the private placement of the Convertible Subordinated Secured Notes, which occurred through December
17, 2015, the Company issued an aggregate of warrants to purchase 83,621 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $7.18
per share, and 3,534 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $11.58 per share. These warrants expire December 2020.
These warrants contain provisions that protect holders from a decline in the issue price of the Company’s common stock (“downround” provision). Due to these down-round provisions, on the grant date the Company accounted for these warrants as liabilities
instead of equity. On January 1, 2017 the Company retrospectively applied the guidance of ASU 2017-11 to the outstanding
financial instruments and reclassified the derivative liability of $813,293 at January 1, 2017 to additional paid-in capital.
The January 1, 2017 fair value for the warrants issued was calculated using the Monte Carlo Simulation model with the
following assumptions:
Dividend yield
Volatility
Risk free interest rate
Expected life

0.00%
81.00%
1.68%
3.96 years

As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, none of the warrants had been exercised.
On March 31, 2017, the Company issued common stock in a private placement offering to a director and stockholder of the
Company. The common stock was issued at $5.98 per share. The issuance triggered the “down-round” provision in the
outstanding warrants, and reduced the exercise price of the Tier 1 and Tier 2 from $7.18 and $11.58, respectively, per share to
$5.98 per share, and increased the number of shares issuable under these warrants by 20,089. Due to the early adoption of ASU
2017-11, the Company recognized as a dividend of $127,232, which is the change the fair value immediately after the down
round feature was triggered.
On April 24, 2018, the Company issued common stock in a private placement offering. The common stock was issued at
$2.75 per share. The issuance triggered the “down-round” provision in the outstanding warrants, and reduced the exercise price
from $5.98 per share to $2.75 per share and increased the number of shares issuable under these warrants by 125,963. Due to the
early adoption of ASU 2017-11, the Company recognized as a dividend of $44,086, which is the change the fair value
immediately after the down round feature was triggered.
During 2014, in connection with obtaining subordinated promissory notes for $1,000,500 and $300,000 from a director and
stockholder, the Company issued detachable warrants for the purchase of 1,887,554 shares of common stock at an exercise price
of $5.56 per share. These warrants are exercisable, in whole or in part at any time up until the expiration of the warrant
agreement at June 29, 2025. The aggregate fair value attributed to these detachable warrants was $1,224,188 at the grant date.
These warrants are classified as equity in the accompanying balance sheets.
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The fair value for the warrants issued was calculated using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions:
Dividend yield
Volatility
Risk free interest rate
Expected life

0.00%
87.00%
0.40%
10.5 years

As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, none of the warrants had been exercised.
Below is a summary of warrants outstanding at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:
Number of
Shares

Balance at December 31, 2016
Granted
Exercised
Expired/Forfeited
Valuation adjustment
Balance at December 31, 2017
Granted
Exercised
Expired/Forfeited
Valuation adjustment
Balance at June 30, 2018

2,061,557
—
—
—
23,134
2,084,691
—
—
—
133,091
2,217,782

Weighted
average
exercise price

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual term

$

6.15
—
—
—
5.98
6.17

8.1
—
—
—
(1.0)
7.1

$

—
—
—
5.98
6.26

—
—
—
—
6.8

NOTE 12 – INCOME TAXES
For the years ended June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, no income tax expense was recorded.
As of December 31, 2017, the Company has approximately $82.8 million and $61.3 million of federal and state net
operating loss carryovers, respectively. These net operating loss carryovers will begin to expire in 2031 and 2024 for federal and
state income tax purposes, respectively. The actual utilization of the federal and state net operating losses may be limited by the
provisions of Internal Revenue Code Section 382.
Given the lack of book income in the history of the Company and the uncertainty as to the likelihood of future taxable
income, the Company has recorded a full valuation allowance against all its deferred tax assets because it is more likely than not
that any of its deferred tax assets would be realized. The Company will evaluate the appropriateness of the valuation allowance
on an annual basis and adjust the allowance as considered necessary. The Company is subject to U.S. federal and state income
tax examinations for all years from inception. No examinations are currently pending.
NOTE 13 – COMMON STOCK
The Company received engineering and prototype development services from Elio Engineering, Inc. dba ESG Engineering,
valued at $25,000,000. In exchange for these services, the Company transferred 25,000,000 shares of common stock to Elio
Engineering, Inc. in October 2011.
During December 2013, in connection with an investor’s capital contribution of $7,484,056, net of equity issuance fees of
$15,944 the President and CEO transferred 5,000,000 shares of common stock from his personal holdings to the investor. The
President and CEO did not receive any compensation for this transfer of shares. The Company’s total shares issued and
outstanding did not change as a result of this transfer during 2013.
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The Company filed an offering statement pursuant to Regulation A of the Securities Act of 1933, which was qualified by
the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 20, 2015. The Company offered a minimum of 1,050,000 shares of
common stock and a maximum of 2,090,000 shares of common stock on a “best efforts” basis, at a price of $12.00 per share. The
offering was authorized to continue until the earlier of March 31, 2016 (which could have been extended at the Company’s
option) or the date when all shares have been sold.
The Company reserved the right to accept subscriptions for up to an additional 418,000 shares, for an additional $5,016,000
in gross proceeds. As of December 31, 2015 the Company sold 1,242,822 shares of common stock for $14,125,449, net of
offering costs of $788,415 of which $73,663 is related to the issuance of warrant liabilities as further discussed in Note 11 above.
On February 16, 2016, the Company closed the Regulation A offering, after issuing an additional 167,226 shares of
common stock for $1,694,544, net of offering costs of $312,168 of which $133,512 is related to the issuance of warrant liabilities
as further discussed in Note 11 above and is included in the issuance of stock warrants on the Statement of Stockholders Equity.
In June 2016, the Company issued an additional 63,000 shares of common stock in connection with a private placement for
proceeds of $1,069,160.
During the year ended December 31, 2016 the Company issued 8,012 shares of common stock in connection with the
exercise of warrants issued in connection with the Regulation A offering as further discussed in Note 11 above. There were no
additional shares issued in connection with the exercise of warrants during the year ended December 31, 2017.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company has issued 213,211 shares of common stock in private placement
offerings to a director and stockholder of the Company for $1,275,000. The common stock was issued at $5.98 per share.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company has issued 9,866 shares of common stock for services provided by
an independent consultant. The common stock was issued at an average price of $6.12 per share based on the closing market
price on the date of grant.
On April 24, 2018, the Company and Overstock.com entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which
Overstock agreed to purchase 909,091 shares of Elio common stock at $2.75 per share in a private placement.
During the six months ended June 30, 2018, the Company has issued 42,882 shares of common stock for services provided
by an independent consultant. The common stock was issued at an average price of $4.20 per share based on the closing market
price on the date of grant.
During the six month period ended June 30, 2018, the Company has issued 627,255 shares of common stock in connection
with the conversion of $1,690,000 of principal and $34,953 of accrued interest on the convertible subordinated secured notes and
the convertible unsecured notes. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company has issued 1,547,161 shares of
common stock in connection with the conversion of $8,896,019, of principal and $374,148 of accrued interest on the convertible
subordinated secured notes and the convertible unsecured notes. As of December 31, 2016, the Company has issued 210,571
shares of common stock in connection with the conversion of $1,271,560, of principal and $71,658 of accrued interest on the
convertible subordinated secured notes and the convertible unsecured notes as further discussed in Note 9 above.
Stock Options
At the May 23, 2016 annual shareholder meeting, shareholders approved the adoption of the 2016 Incentive and
Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan, which was adopted, subject to shareholder approval, by the board of directors on April 25, 2016.
The plan permits the granting of options to purchase up to 2,000,000 shares of common stock. During October 2016, the
Company awarded 510,380 options to certain Company personnel, and directors. Stock options
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granted vest equally over a three year period. Director options are exercisable once the vesting date has occurred, and Company
personnel options are exercisable once production begins. All options expire seven years from the award date and have an
exercise price of $19.68 share. As of December 31, 2016, 121,380 options were forfeited.
On March 26, 2018, the Compensation Committee approved a resolution adjusting the exercise price of the 389,000
outstanding stock options issued in October 2016. Under the Compensation Committee resolution, the exercise price was
adjusted from $19.68 to the greater of (a) $3.00 per share and (b) the closing OTC QB quotation on the date the resolution was
approved. The OTC QB closing price on March 26, 2018 was $2.70. Thus, the exercise price for the 389,000 outstanding options
was adjusted to $3.00. The modification resulted in an incremental compensation cost of $48,287 that will be recognized over the
remaining vesting period.
The fair value for the 2016 options granted was calculated using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions:
Dividend yield
Volatility
Risk free interest rate
Expected life

0.00%
70.00%
1.11%
4.5 years

The total employee and director stock-based compensation recorded as operating expenses was $645,180 and $702,758 for
the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. At June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 there was $1,619,468 and
$2,222,479, respectively of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options. This cost is expected to be
recognized over the next year.
Under the March 26, 2018 resolution, the Compensation Committee also approved the award of 259,380 additional options
to certain Company personnel, and directors at an exercise price of $3.00 per share. 42,380 stock options vest immediately, while
the remaining stock options granted vest equally over a three year period. Director options are exercisable once the vesting date
has occurred, and Company personnel options are exercisable once production begins. All options expire seven years from the
award date.
The fair value for the 2018 options granted was calculated using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions:
Dividend yield
Volatility
Risk free interest rate
Expected life

0.00%
74.0% - 106.00%
2.31% - 2.42%
2.05 - 3.05 years

The total employee and director stock-based compensation recorded as operating expenses was $75,222 for the six months
ended June 30, 2018. At June 30, 2018 there was $306,414 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock
options. This cost is expected to be recognized over the next two years.
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The Company currently uses authorized and unissued shares to satisfy share award exercises.
Weighted
average
exercise price

Number of
Shares

Balance at January 1, 2017
Granted
Exercised
Expired/Forfeited
Balance at December 31, 2017
Granted
Exercised
Expired/Forfeited
Modified
Balance at June 30, 2018

389,000
—
—
—
389,000
259,380
—
—

$

648,380

$

Vested at June 30, 2018
Exercisable at June 30, 2018

172,047
20,000

$

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual term

19.85
—
—
—
19.85
3.00
—
—

2.8
—
—
—
1.8
2.3
—
—

3.00

1.7

Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance
Common stock reserved for future issuance consists of the following at June 30, 2018:
Common stock warrants outstanding - related parties
Common stock warrants outstanding
Common stock options outstanding under the 2016 Plan
Authorized for future grant or issuance under the 2016 Plan
Convertible notes payable
Series C Convertible Preferred Stock
Series D Convertible Preferred Stock

1,971,378
246,404
648,380
1,230,240
609,321
435,036
96,380
5,237,139

NOTE 14 – PREFERRED STOCK
On November 17, 2016, the Company converted accrued sublease payments and accrued and common area maintenance
charges, property taxes, insurance (“lease charges”), late fees and interest of into 435,036 shares of the Company’s Series C
Convertible Preferred Stock valued and a warrant to purchase 25,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The Series C
Convertible Preferred Stock convert into an equal number of shares of the Company’s common stock. See Note 10 and Note 11
for additional information regarding the conversion of accrued lease payments and lease related charges into the Company’s
Series C Convertible Preferred Stock and a warrant to purchase shares of the Company’s stock.
The November 17, 2016 amendment also prepaid projected sublease payments projected lease charges and convert them
into 96,380 shares of the Company’s Series D Convertible Preferred Stock, which convert into an equal number of shares of the
Company’s common stock. This conversion was effective on January 1, 2017 and prepaid the sublease payments and lease
charges through December 31, 2017. See Note 10 for additional information regarding the conversion of accrued lease payments
and lease related charges into the Company’s Series C Convertible Preferred.
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Sales Commitments
In August 2016, an offer was circulated that until the Company reached 65,000 total reservations, non-refundable
reservation holders will receive a locked price of $7,300, exclusive of destination/deliver charges, taxes, title, registration, and
options/installation. As a special incentive if non-refundable reservation holders make a binding purchase commitment the locked
price is reduced to $7,000. As of June 30, 2018, the Company has received 65,460 total reservations, of which 36,597 have
received the locked price of $7,300 and 21,195 have made a binding purchase commitment and have received the locked price of
$7,000.
Sales Discounts
The Company provides a sales discount for nonrefundable deposit customers of up to 50% of the nonrefundable deposit, up
to $500 per deposit. The deposit will be applied toward the purchase of the vehicle at the time of the customer purchase. No
liability has been recorded for the nonrefundable deposit sales discount since revenues have not commenced and the utilization
cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. Future committed sales discounts offered amounted to approximately $15,637,455
and $15,626,030 as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
Litigation
On July 10, 2017, the Louisiana Motor Vehicle Commission (the “LMVC”) determined that the Company was in violation
of certain state laws by operating as a manufacturer and dealer without a license. The LMVC entered a judgement against the
Company for a total amount of $545,000; $272,500 for not having a manufacturer's license and $272,500 for not having an
automobile dealer's license. The LMVC ordered the Company to obtain both licenses to manufacture and deal in Louisiana and to
place all refundable reservations into a trust account within 60 days of the LMVC’s decision, or face a daily fine of $5,000. While
the Company does not believe the judgement obtained by the LMVC was valid and has since filed a petition for judicial review,
it has recorded the accrued liability of $545,000 as a general and administrative expense in the accompanying Statement of
Operations for the year ended December 31, 2017.
A hearing was held May 15, 2018, and the court found the penalty imposed against the Company by the LMVC to be
excessive and reduced the fine to a total amount of $76,500; $38,250 for not having a manufacturer’s license and $38,250 for not
having an automobile dealer’s license. The Court ordered the Company provide proof of its establishment of a trust account into
which all amounts collected for refundable reservation payments are deposited and proof of the deposits into such account within
60 days, or face an additional daily fine of $1,000. The Court further ordered that the Company is assessed the cost of the legal
proceedings, including the LMVC’s Attorney Fees. The Company has appealed the ruling and has reduced the accrued liability
from $545,000 to $76,500 during the 2 nd quarter of 2018. On July 12, 2018, the Company purchased an appeal bond in the
amount of $76,500 in order to satisfy the requirements of the appeal.
Creation of New Jobs
Among the terms of the Company’s purchase agreement with Racer was an agreement to use and develop the property so as
to create at least 1,500 new jobs. The Company agreed that if it had not created 1,500 new jobs by February 28, 2016, it would
pay Racer $5,000 for each full-time, permanent direct job that fell below the required number. At December 31, 2016, the
Company record an accrued liability of $7,500,000, and the expense is included in general and administrative expenses in the
Statement of Operations. On May 31, 2017, the Company entered into a third amendment and extended the deadline of this
agreement to September 1, 2019. At that time, the Company has reclassified the estimate as an other long-term liability. The
Company will continue to monitor the jobs creation agreement, and will reverse the accrual once funding has been achieved and
the likelihood of meeting the September 1, 2019 is probable.
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On December 28, 2017, the Company entered into the third amendment with Shreveport Business Park, LLC. Under the
third amendment of the leased space shall be reduced by 152,557 square feet effective January 1, 2018. As a result of the
reduction in square feet, the base rent shall be $211,205. As a result of the third sublease amendment, effective January 1, 2018,
the Company recorded an adjustment to decrease the capital sublease obligation and respective facility under capital sublease by
$1,200,724, which represents the change in the present value of the amended minimum lease payments in accordance with FASB
ASC Subtopic 840-30-35, Capital Subleases.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company issued 213,211 shares of common stock in private placement
offerings to a director and shareholder of the Company at $5.98 per share.
On April 25, 2018, a director and shareholder of the Company converted $1,675,000 of principal and $32,563 of accrued
interest into 620,932 shares of common stock at a conversion price of $2,75 per share. As of the date of this filing there were no
Convertible Unsecured Notes outstanding. On April 17, 2017, a director and shareholder of the Company has converted
$1,955,000 of principal and $174,095 of accrued interest from his Tier 1 Convertible Subordinated Notes into 356,036 shares of
the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $5.98 per share. On April 17, 2017, the Company also converted
$6,484,000 of principal and $165,219 of accrued interest from its Convertible Unsecured Notes into 1,111,910 shares of common
stock at a conversion price of $5.98 per share. This amount was converted by directors and stockholders of the Company. See
Note 9 above for additional disclosures on advances and conversions.
During 2016, several employees advanced the Company $75,155. The amount was outstanding at June 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017. The advances accrue interest at the Federal Funds rate per annum of 2.32% as of June 30, 2018 and will be
repaid during 2018.
NOTE 17 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Company has evaluated subsequent events that have occurred through November 9, 2018, which is the date that the
financial statements were available to be issued, and determined that there were no subsequent events or transactions that required
recognition or disclosure in the financial statements except as discussed in Note 7, Note 8, Note 10, Note 15, and below.
On September 20, 2018, the Company announced that it has formally launched the pre-sale of the ElioCoin Security Token.
The company currently intends to raise up to $25 million in the private placement, which is limited to certain institutional and
accredited investors pursuant to Regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933.
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Item 4.
Exhibit
Number

Exhibits
Description

2.1

Certificate of Incorporation

2.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws

3.1

Form of Convertible Subordinated
Secured Note due September 30, 2022
Form of Registration Rights Agreement
with holders of Convertible Subordinated
Secured Note due September 30, 2022
Form of Pledge and Security Agreement
with collateral agent for holders of
Convertible Subordinated Secured Note
due September 30, 2022
Form of StartEngine Common Stock
Purchase Warrant
Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued
to Shreveport Business Park, LLC dated
November 17, 2016
Registration Rights Agreement with
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Regulation A, the issuer has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunder duly authorized.
ELIO MOTORS, INC.

Date:

November 12, 2018

By: /s/ Paul Elio
Paul Elio, Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of Regulation A, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
issuer and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

/s/ Paul Elio
Paul Elio

/s/ Connie Grennan
Connie Grennan

Title

Date

Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal
Executive Officer)

November 12, 2018

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

November 12, 2018

Exhibit 6.43
AMENDED FORBEARANCE AGREEMENT
This Amended Forbearance Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made effective as of the 1st day of August, 2018 (the “Effective
Date”), between Revitalizing Auto Communities Environmental Response Trust (“RACER”) and Elio Motors, Inc. (“Elio”).
RECITALS
A.
RACER Properties LLC, an affiliate of RACER, and Elio are parties to that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement dated
February 28, 2013 (the “PSA”). In connection with the PSA, Elio, as the maker, and RACER, as the holder, entered into that certain
Promissory Note dated February 28, 2013, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Promissory Note dated March 17, 2015, and by
that certain Third Amendment to the PSA dated May 31, 2017, which effectively extended the term of the Promissory Note to July 31,
2018 (the “Note”), whereby RACER made a loan to Elio in the original principal amount of $23,000,000 (the “Loan”). The Parties now
seek to extend the term of the Note to December 31, 2018, with such extension being effectuated by the Parties via execution of a certain
Second Amendment to Promissory Note of even date herewith.
B.
The Loan is secured by Collateral (as hereinafter defined) and further evidenced, in part, pursuant to a Security
Agreement dated as of February 28, 2013 (“Security Agreement”), a Trademark Security Agreement dated as of July 1, 2017, and UCC
Financing Statements and amendments (“UCC Filings”). The Collateral is comprised of all, of Elio’s right, title and interest, without
limitation, all goods, machinery, tooling, furniture, equipment, trade fixtures or any other personal property located at 7600 General
Motors Boulevard, Shreveport, Parish of Caddo, Louisiana, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, together with all substitutions,
renewals or replacements of and additions, improvements, accessories, replacement parts and accumulations to any and all of such goods,
equipment, fixtures or personal property, together with all proceeds thereof, including, without limitation, insurance, condemnation,
requisition or similar payments, and all proceeds from sales, renewals, releases or other dispositions thereof, the PayPal Account number
B3VEMJAKW622Q, and the Trademark Collateral (as defined in the Trademark Security Agreement) (collectively, the “ Collateral”).
The Note, Security Agreement, the Trademark Security Agreement and UCC Filings, as modified to date, and other documents,
instruments, certificates given and/or executed in connection with the Loan are hereinafter referred to as the “Loan Documents” and each
individually as a “Loan Document.”
C.
As of the Effective Date, Elio is indebted to RACER under the Loan Documents for an amount no less than
$21,126,147, plus unpaid interest, late charges, forebearance fees, and attorneys’ fees, of $15,729,830 pursuant to Section 7.3.3 of the
PSA, and other charges pursuant to the Loan Documents (collectively, the “Indebtedness”).
D.

The Indebtedness is secured by the Collateral pursuant to the Loan Documents.

E.
As of the Effective Date, Elio has failed to pay to RACER in full the October 2016, November 2016, December 2016,
January 2017, February 2017, March 2017, April 2017, May 2017, June 2017, July 2017, August 2017, September 2017, October 2017,
November 2017, December 2017, January 2018, February 2018, March 2018, April 2018, May 2018, June 2018, and July 2018 monthly
payments due under the Note, and Elio anticipates that it will fail to pay to RACER in full the August 2018, September 2018, and
October 2018 monthly payments due under the Note (collectively, the “Existing Defaults”).

F.
Elio also borrowed the original principal sum of $9,850,000 from GEMCAP LENDING I, LLC, (“GEMCAP”), which
loan was purchased by and assigned to CH Capital Lending, LLC (hereinafter the “CH Capital Loan”). As of July 31, 2018, the
outstanding principal balance due CH Capital Lending, LLC (“CH Capital”) under the CH Capital Loan is $3,850,207.45.
G.
In a “Second Loan Extension Agreement ” dated April 27, 2017, Elio and CH Capital agreed to modify the CH
Capital Loan. Elio represents and warrants that no other amendments, modifications or changes exist with respect to the CH Capital
Loan or any of the documents evidencing the CH Capital Loan (the CH Loan Documents”).
H.
Section 12 of the March 1, 2013, Intercreditor and Subordination Agreement between GEMCAP, Elio, and RACER
(“Intercreditor Agreement”) provides in relevant part that RACER be given notice and an opportunity to consent prior to CH Capital’s
and Elio’s agreement to “change the terms of payment or change or extend the time of payment of, or increase, renew, exchange, amend,
or altar, the terms of any of the CH Loan Documents.”
I.

Elio acknowledges that, as of the Effective Date, the Existing Defaults have occurred and are continuing.

J.
Elio represents it is continuing to actively seek to engage an investment banking firm to underwrite offerings of Elio
equity or debt and to raise equity financing to refinance the Note in furtherance of satisfying its commitment to create jobs in Parish of
Caddo, Shreveport and has requested that RACER forbear from enforcing its rights and remedies arising under the Loan Documents as a
result of the Existing Defaults.
K.
Elio represents that it has continued to honor or satisfy all requests for the return of refundable deposits made by
prospective Elio customers.
AGREEMENT
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises set forth in this Agreement and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
1.

Incorporation of Recitals. The foregoing Recitals are incorporated as though fully set forth herein.

2.
Loan Documents In Effect. Elio hereby expressly acknowledges and agrees that (i) the Loan Documents are in full force and
effect, (ii) Elio has no claims, set offs or counterclaims against RACER relating to or arising out of the Loan or Loan Documents, (iii)
Elio has no defenses, offsets or reductions against its obligation to pay the entire amount of the Indebtedness, (iv) this Agreement does
not constitute a Loan Document, and (v) any default hereunder shall be deemed a breach or default under the Loan Documents and in
addition to RACER’s rights and remedies under this Agreement, at law or in equity, Lender shall be entitled to pursue all of its rights and
remedies under the Loan Documents by reason of such default.
2

3 .
No Waiver . Nothing in this Agreement, nor the execution and delivery thereof, shall operate to (i) waive, modify,
impair, release, or in any manner affect Elio’s obligations under the Loan Documents, (ii) waive any breach or violation of any provision
of any of the Loan Documents or waive or impair any rights or remedies of RACER against any person, firm, association, corporation or
other entity liable or responsible for performance of any of the provisions, covenants, agreements, terms or conditions in any of the Loan
Documents or available at law or in equity, or (iii) waive any rights or claims that RACER has under the Loan Documents against Elio or
the Collateral.
4 .
Forbearance. Provided that within ninety (90) days after the execution of this Agreement, Elio pays to RACER the
“Catch-Up Payment” as set forth in Section 7, below, then, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including the nonoccurrence of a Forbearance Default (as hereinafter defined), RACER will forbear from enforcing any of its remedies under the Note and
Loan Documents, and from commencing any action or proceeding against Elio or the Collateral through but in any event, not beyond
October 31, 2018 (the “Forbearance Termination Date ”). The forbearance fee portion of the Catch-Up Payment is to reimburse
RACER for its administration fees and costs in connection with the Loan. Elio acknowledges that forbearance fee payments do not cover
and are not being applied to existing interest, arrearages and other charges due under the Loan Documents, all of which shall continue to
remain and accrue after the payments are made.
5.
Forbearance Termination and Default. On or after October 31, 2018, RACER shall be free to commence any action
or proceeding against Elio or the Collateral and to otherwise enforce all of its rights and remedies under the Note and Loan Documents.
Furthermore, if (i) Elio shall default in any of its obligations under this Agreement including without limitation, the payments required
pursuant to paragraph 4, above, or (ii) a petition in bankruptcy or other insolvency proceeding is filed by or against Elio, or (iii) any event
of default set forth in the Loan Documents, PSA or under applicable law (other than the Existing Defaults) shall occur prior to the
Forbearance Termination Date, or (iv) CH Capital or any other person or entity seeks to enforce rights or remedies against the Collateral
or any of Elio’s property or assets, or (v) Elio breaches any representations, warranties and covenants set forth in this Agreement, the PSA
or any Loan Document, or (vi) any liens, other than those currently held by CH Capital attach to or are asserted against the Collateral or
any other assets of Elio, or (vii) Elio defaults under the CH Loan, or (viii) a judgment is entered against Elio; ((i) – (viii) are collectively,
the “Forbearance Defaults” and individually a “Forbearance Default”), then, in any such event, RACER’s agreement of forbearance
hereunder shall automatically terminate and RACER shall have the right to commence any action or proceeding and take all enforcement
actions against Elio and the Collateral and to otherwise pursue any and all rights and remedies under the Loan Documents. Additionally,
upon the Forbearance Termination Date or a Forbearance Default, all sums due under the Loan Documents shall immediately become due
and payable.
6.
Representations, Covenants and Warranties: In consideration of RACER’s agreements set forth herein, Elio hereby
covenants, represents and warrants as follows:
(a) Recitals. The Recitals in this Agreement are true and correct in all respects.
(b) Incorporation of Representations. All representations and warranties of Elio in the Loan Documents are
incorporated herein in full by this reference and are true and correct as of the date hereof.
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(c) Corporate Power; Authorization. Elio has the corporate power, and is duly authorized to execute and deliver
this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder.
(d) Enforceability. This Agreement and the Loan Documents are the legal, valid and binding obligations of Elio
enforceable against Elio in accordance with their respective terms.
(e) No Violation. Elio’s execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement does not and will not (i) violate
any law, rule, regulation or court order to which Elio is subject; (ii) conflict with or result in a breach of Elio’s
Articles of Organization or any shareholder agreements or any agreement or instrument to which Elio is party
or by which it or its assets and properties are bound, or (iii) result in the creation or imposition of any lien,
security interest or encumbrance on any property of Elio, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, other than
liens in favor of RACER.
(f) Obligation Absolute. The obligation of Elio to repay the Indebtedness under the Loan Documents, together
with all interest, late charges, attorneys’ fees and costs accrued thereon, is absolute and unconditional, and there
exists no right of set off or recoupment, counterclaim or defense of any nature whatsoever to payment of the
Loan.
(g) Defaults. Borrower hereby represents and warrants that as of the date hereof, except as to the Existing
Defaults, there are no existing defaults under the Note or any other Loan Document.
(h) CH Loan. The CH Loan is not in default and no amendments or modifications to the CH Loan have been made
or entered into other than or subsequent to the Second Loan Extension Agreement.
(i) No Liens. Other than the liens or encumbrances held by RACER, CH Capital, the note holders of the 2015
Convertible Subordinated Secured Notes, Stuart Lichter, and Schwab Industries, Inc., no other liens or
encumbrances exist with respect to the Collateral or any of the other assets owned by Elio.
(j) Payroll, Vendors, Suppliers. Elio is current on all its payroll obligations and all payables due to its vendors
and suppliers. Each calendar quarter beginning with the current quarter of the Effective Date, Elio shall provide
to RACER a payables due ledger.
(k) Modifications to CH Capital Loan. Elio will neither make nor agree to any further modifications to the CH
Capital Loan without prior notice to and consent by RACER pursuant to the Intercreditor Agreement.
7.
Catch-Up Payment. On or before October 10, 2018, Elio shall pay to RACER $4,484,755.50, which is the sum of the
unpaid monthly amounts and late fees due to RACER under the Note (from October 2016 to October 2018) plus the sum of the
forbearance fees due to RACER via this forbearance agreement and all prior forbearance agreements executed between Elio and RACER.
The monthly payment and late charge portions of the Catch-Up Payment shall be applied to accrued interest due under the Note.
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8 .
Refinancing. As of the Effective Date, Elio shall continue to diligently pursue refinancing the Note or to sell its
business and shall provide RACER with a written update detailing its progress in finding a replacement lender every ninety (90) days
after the Effective Date. If Elio obtains a commitment for financing (the “Replacement Financing”), Elio shall promptly enter into such
Replacement Financing and, simultaneously with the receipt by Elio of the Replacement Financing, pay the outstanding Indebtedness
under the Note and Loan Documents in full.
9 .
Release of Claims and Waiver. Elio hereby releases, remises, acquits and forever discharges RACER and RACER’s
employees, agents, representatives, consultants, attorneys, fiduciaries, servants, officers, directors, members, affiliates, predecessors,
successors and assigns, subsidiary and parent corporations, and related entities (all of the foregoing hereinafter called the “Released
Parties”), from any and all actions and causes of action, judgments, executions, suits debts, claims, demands, liabilities, obligations,
damages and expenses of any and every character, known or unknown, direct and/or indirect, at law or in equity, of whatsoever kind or
nature, whether heretofore or hereafter arising, for or because of any matter or things done, omitted or suffered to be done by any of the
Released Parties prior to and including the date of execution hereof, and in any way directly or indirectly arising out of or in any way in
connection with this Agreement and the Loan Documents, including but not limited to, claims relating to any negotiations with respect to
the Loan Documents heretofore occurring (all of the foregoing hereinafter called the “Released Matters”). Elio acknowledges that the
agreements in this paragraph are intended to be in full satisfaction of all or any alleged injuries or damages arising in connection with the
Released Matters. Elio represents and warrants to RACER that it has not or purported to transfer, assign or otherwise convey any right,
title or interest of Elio in any Released Matter to any other Person and that the foregoing constitutes a full and complete release of all
Released Matters.
10.

Waiver.
(a) Elio agrees that, for valuable consideration which Elio acknowledges having been received herein and heretofore
(including multiple forbearances), RACER shall be entitled to relief from the automatic stay under Section 362 of
the Bankruptcy Code, any stay or other form of creditor restraint imposed under Section 105 or any other section
of the Bankruptcy Code or any other stay or creditor restraint imposed under any other proceeding, any of which
would adversely impact the rights and remedies that are available to RACER under this Agreement, the Loan
Documents or applicable law. Elio, to the fullest extent permitted by law, irrevocably and unconditionally consents
to such relief and hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives its rights to object to the foregoing relief. In the
event Elio files any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, Elio hereby consents and agrees that this Agreement
shall be deemed to be a stipulation between RACER and Elio that an order providing that Elio shall not be entitled
to use cash collateral (to the extent a claim is raised by Elio that any cash or other collateral actually constitute
cash collateral which the RACER does not concede) in any manner shall be entered by the bankruptcy or other
court, and Elio shall not oppose the entry of such an order by any bankruptcy or other court.
(b) Elio shall not seek to modify, impair or limit the rights and remedies of RACER under sections 506(c) or 552(b)
of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise, and shall not seek to obtain credit or incur debt to be secured by a senior or
equal lien on the Collateral or Trademark Collateral, or any other property which constitutes collateral of
RACER pursuant to section 364(d) or otherwise.
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1 1 .
Advice of Counsel. Elio has carefully read and understands the effect of this Agreement, and has either been
represented by its own counsel, or has elected to waive counsel. RACER has advised Elio that this Agreement is an important legal
document and has recommended that Elio be represented by its own legal counsel in connection with this agreement. Elio acknowledges
that any attorney representing RACER (whether outside counsel or staff counsel) is acting solely in the interests of RACER and that
RACER’s attorney(s) have not given any legal advice to Elio or otherwise made any statement upon which Elio has relied. Elio has
executed this Agreement as its free and voluntary act, without any duress, coercion or undue influence exerted by any other party.
12.
No Modification of the Note. Other than the limited forbearance set forth herein, nothing in this Agreement shall be
deemed to modify, reduce or effect Elio’s obligations under the Loan Documents.
13.
Further Assurances. The parties agree to execute any and all additional documents that may reasonably be required
in order to evidence, secure or carry out the agreements and undertakings set forth in this Agreement.
1 4 .
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts and by facsimile or other electronic
signatures, each of which shall constitute a duplicate original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
15.
Applicable Law. This Agreement is executed in and shall be construed under and governed by the laws of the State
of Louisiana, without regard to conflict of laws principles.
16.
Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and
their respective successors and assigns.
1 7 .
Costs of Enforcement. In the event any party to this Agreement commences any legal action to enforce its rights
hereunder as a result of the breach of this Agreement by other party, the prevailing party in such action shall be entitled to recovery all of
its costs and expenses in connection therewith, including all reasonable legal fees and costs.
18.
Integration. This Agreement, together with the Loan Documents, constitutes the entire agreement and understanding
among the parties relating to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior proposals, negotiations, agreements and understandings
relating to such subject matter. In entering into this Agreement, Elio acknowledges that it is relying on no statement, representation,
warranty, covenant or agreement of any kind made by RACER or any employee or agent of RACER, except for the agreements set forth
herein.
1 9 .
Survival. All representations, warranties, covenants, agreements, undertakings, waivers and releases of Elio
contained herein shall survive the termination of the forbearance agreed to hereunder.
20.
No Oral Changes. No amendment, modification, termination, discharge or waiver of any provision of this Agreement
or of any party’s obligations hereunder shall be effective unless it is in writing and signed by the party intended to be bound thereby and
then such amendment, modification, termination or waiver shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose
given.
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21.
Notices. All notices, requests, consents or demands herein provided to be given or made, or which may be given or
made by either Party to the other hereunder (collectively, the “Notices”), shall be given or made only in writing and shall be deemed to
have been duly given: (a) when delivered personally at the address set forth below, or if delivery is rejected when delivery was
attempted, or (b) on the first business day after the date sent when sent via reputable overnight courier, property addressed, prepaid and
delivered to such courier’s office during its business hours, otherwise, it shall be effective the next Business Day; (c) on the date sent via
facsimile or electronic mail transmission, if sent prior to 5:30 PM (eastern standard time) on a business day, and if a hard copy is
deposited in the United States mail, properly addressed and first class postage prepaid, return receipt requested. The proper address to
which all Notices may be given or made by either party shall be the address set forth below, or to such other address or to such other
person as any party shall designate by Notice given to the other party in accordance with this paragraph. The attorneys for either party
may, but shall not be required to, deliver any notice pursuant to this Agreement on behalf of their respective clients.
If to Seller:
RACER Trust
500 Woodward Avenue, Suite 2650
Detroit, MI 48226
Attn: Bruce Rasher, Redevelopment Manager
Facsimile: 734.879.9537
Email: brasher@racertrust.org

With a Copy to:
RACER Trust
500 Woodward Avenue, Suite 2650
Detroit, MI 48226
Attn: Carl Garvey, General Counsel
Facsimile: 734.879.9537
Email: cgarvey@racertrust.org
And a Copy to:
Thompson & Knight LLP
900 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Attn: Michael V. Blumenthal, Esq.
Facsimile: 214.999.9279
Email: michael.blumenthal@tklaw.com.

If to Buyer:
Elio Motors, Inc.
102 W. El Caminito Drive
Phoenix, AZ 85021
Attn: Paul Elio
Facsimile:
Email: pelio@esgeng.com

With a Copy to:

2
2
.
Waiver of Jury Trial . RACER AND ELIO HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND
INTENTIONALLY WAIVE, TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAWS, ANY RIGHT THEY
OR THEIR AFFILIATES, SUCCESSORS OR ASSIGNS MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT TO ANY
CLAIM ARISING OUT OF, UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY LOAN DOCUMENT OR
OTHER DOCUMENT CONTEMPLATED TO BE EXECUTED IN CONJUNCTION HEREWITH, THE RELATIONSHIP OF
RACER AND ELIO HEREUNDER, OR ANY COURSE OF CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING, STATEMENTS
(WHETHER VERBAL OR WRITTEN) OR ACTIONS OF ANY PARTY HERETO. THIS PROVISION IS A MATERIAL
INDUCEMENT TO RACER ACCEPTING AND ENTERING INTO THIS AGREEMENT.
7

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.
RACER:
REVITALIZING AUTO COMMUNITIES ENVIRONMENTAL
RESPONSE TRUST
By:

EPLET, LLC, acting solely in its capacity as Administrative
Trustee of Revitalizing Auto Communities Environmental
Response Trust

By:

/s/ Elliott P. Laws
ELLIOTT P. LAWS, not individually, but acting solely in his
capacity as Managing Member

ELIO:
ELIO MOTORS, INC.
By:
Its:
8

/s/ Paul Elio
CEO

Exhibit 6.44
SECOND AMENDMENT TO PROMISSORY NOTE
THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO PROMISSORY NOTE (this “ Second Amendment”) is executed effective as of the 1st day of
August, 2018 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Elio Motors, Inc. (“Maker”) and Revitalizing Auto Communities Environmental
Response Trust (“Holder”).
RECITALS
A.
Pursuant to a Promissory Note made by Maker payable to the order of Holder dated February 28, 2013 (“Note”), Holder
made a loan to Maker in the amount of $23,000,000.
B.
By the First Amendment to Promissory Note executed between Maker and Holder as of March 17, 2015, Maker and
Holder agreed to amend certain terms of the Note, including extending the Note payment date to July 1, 2017.
C.
Maker and RACER Properties LLC, an affiliate of Holder, are parties to that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement dated
February 28, 2013 (“PSA”).
D.
Maker and Holder executed a Third Amendment to the PSA as of May 31, 2017, which effectively extended the term of
the Note to July 31, 2018.
E.

Holder and Maker wish to amend certain terms of the Note further as set forth below.
AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants set forth herein, Holder and Maker hereby covenant and
agree as follows:
1.

Defined Terms. Initially capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Note.

2.
Amendment to Note. Maker was required to pay Holder the sum of $173,500 per month pursuant to the Note. Maker
has failed to make certain of the payments under the Note. Holder has agreed to amend the Note further to defer the Note payment for a
period of an additional five (5) months, effective July 31, 2018, such that the entire balance of principal and interest outstanding under
the Note shall be due and payable in full on December 31, 2018.
3.

No Other Modifications. Except as expressly modified hereby, the Note shall remain unmodified and in full force and

4.

Governing Law. This Amendment will be governed by and construed according to the laws of the State of Louisiana.

effect.

[Remainder of Page Left Blank Intentionally; Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Maker and Holder have executed this Second Amendment as of the date first set forth above.
MAKER:
ELIO MOTORS, INC.
By:
Its:

/s/ Paul Elio
CEO

HOLDER:
REVITALIZING AUTO COMMUNITIES
ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSE TRUST
By:

EPLET, LLC, acting solely in its capacity as
Administrative Trustee of Revitalizing Auto
Communities Environmental Response Trust

By:

/s/ Elliott P. Laws
ELLIOTT P. LAWS, not individually,
but acting solely in his capacity
as Managing Member

2

Exhibit 6.45
THIRD AMENDMENT TO SECOND LOAN EXTENSION AGREEMENT
This Third Amendment to Second Loan Extension Agreement (“Third Amendment to SLEA”) is made as of this 7th day of
November, 2018, by and between ELIO MOTORS, INC., an Arizona corporation (“Borrower”), and CH CAPITAL LENDING, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (together with its successors and assigns, “Lender”).
RECITALS
A.
Borrower and Lender entered into that certain Second Loan Extension Agreement on April 27, 2017 (“SLEA”), in which
Lender agreed to extend the maturity date of certain indebtedness owed to Lender to July 31, 2018, subject to certain specified conditions.
B.
Borrower and Lender entered into that certain First Amendment to Second Loan Extension Agreement on August 11, 2017
(“First Amendment to SLEA”), in which Lender agreed to extend the due date of the $350,000 payment owed to Lender (as referenced
in Paragraph 4(f) of the SLEA) from August 1, 2017 to November 7, 2017.
C.
Borrower and Lender entered into that certain Second Amendment to Second Loan Extension Agreement on April 30,
2018 (“Second Amendment to SLEA”). The Second Amendment to SLEA provided that Borrower had until July 31, 2018 to make the
payment of $650,000.00 owed by Borrower to Lender as of May 1, 2018 pursuant to Paragraph 4(f) of the SLEA, as amended by the First
Amendment to SLEA. Such $650,000.00 payment was to be comprised of (i) $350,000 previously due on or before Wednesday, November
1, 2017, (ii) $50,000 previously due on each of December 1, 2017, January 1, 2018, February 1, 2018, March 1, 2018 and April 1, 2018,
and (iii) $50,000 due on May I, 2018. Borrower only paid to Lender $162,500.00 (on or before Friday, May 4, 2018) of the $650,000.00
owed to Lender pursuant to the foregoing. Borrower has since failed to pay the remaining $487,500.00 otherwise due on July 31, 2018
pursuant to the Second Amendment to SLEA.
D.
As of the date hereof, Borrower has failed to meet the obligations of Borrower under the SLEA, the Loan Agreement, and
other Loan Documents, as each has been amended. Lender is willing to grant Borrower an extension of time to satisfy those obligations.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained and other good and valuable
consideration, Lender and Borrower agree as follows:
1.
In lieu of the remaining $487,500.00 previously due on July 31, 2018, Borrower shall have until Friday, December 14,
2018 to make a payment to Lender, in immediately available funds, in the amount of $2,500,000.00. The foregoing payment shall be
applied to the outstanding principal balance of the Loan pursuant to the terms of the Loan Documents, as amended.
2.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Borrower and Lender acknowledge and agree that Borrower shall continue to be obligated
to pay to Lender fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) per month, no later than the first day of each month, beginning January 1, 2019. The
foregoing payments shall be applied to the outstanding principal balance of the Loan pursuant to the terms of the Loan Documents, as
amended.
3.
The Maturity Date under the Loan Agreement and other Loan Documents, as amended, is hereby extended and amended
to mean Friday, March 15, 2019.
4.
Except as specifically amended in this Third Amendment to SLEA, all of the terms and conditions of the SLEA, as
amended by the First Amendment to SLEA, shall continue in full force and effect. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this
Third Amendment to SLEA and the terms of the SLEA, as amended by the First Amendment to SLEA, the terms of this Third Amendment
to SLEA shall prevail.
5.
This Third Amendment to SLEA may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which so executed shall be
deemed to be an original, and such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same Third Amendment to SLEA. The parties
shall be entitled to sign and transmit an electronic signature of this Third Amendment to SLEA (whether by facsimile, PDF or other
email transmission), which signature shall be binding on the party whose name is contained therein. Any party providing an electronic
signature agrees to promptly execute and deliver to the other parties an original signed Third Amendment to SLEA, upon request.
[Signatures on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Third Amendment to SLEA has been duly executed as of the day and year first above written.
BORROWER:
ELIO MOTORS, INC.,
an Arizona corporation
By:

/s/ Paul Elio

Name:Paul Elio
Title: CEO
LENDER:
CH CAPITAL LENDING, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company
By:

HOLDINGS SPE MANAGER, LLC,
A Delaware limited liability company
By:
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/s/ Richard H. Klein
Richard H. Klein
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 6.46
FIFTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT
This Fifth Amendment to Lease Agreement (“Fifth Amendment”), is entered into as of the 7 th day of November, 2018 (“Effective
Date”), by and between SHREVEPORT BUSINESS PARK, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Landlord”) and ELIO
MOTORS, INC., an Arizona corporation (“Tenant”).
RECITALS:
A.
Landlord and Tenant entered into that certain Lease Agreement dated as of December 27, 2013 (“Original Lease”) as
amended by that certain First Amendment to Lease dated as of July 31, 2015 (“First Amendment”), that certain Second Amendment to
Lease dated as of November _, 2016 (“Second Amendment”), that certain Third Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of December
28, 2017 (“Third Amendment”), that certain Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of April 30, 2018 (“Fourth Amendment”,
and together with the Original Lease, First Amendment, Second Amendment and Third Amendment, the “Lease”) for space located in
those certain buildings commonly known as 7600 Antoine Boulevard (formerly 7600 General Motors Boulevard), Shreveport, Louisiana
(“Premises”).
B.
Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, Tenant was obligated to pay to Landlord Base Rent of (i) $311,679.69 on or before
Friday, May 4, 2018, (ii) $1,209,220.36 on or before Tuesday, July 31, 2018, and (iii) $211,204.50 per month beginning August 1, 2018, of
which Tenant only paid to Landlord $311,679.69 on or before Friday, May 4, 2018.
C.
Also pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, Tenant was obligated to pay to Landlord monthly estimated Additional Rent of
(i) 76,131.33 on or before Friday, May 4, 2018, (ii) $295,365.89 on or before Tuesday, July 31, 2018, and (iii) $51,589.11 per month
beginning August 1, 2018, of which Tenant only paid to Landlord $76,131.33 on or before Friday, May 4, 2018.
D.

Landlord and Tenant mutually desire to amend the Lease in accordance with the terms and conditions hereto.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the agreements and obligations set forth herein, and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
1.
Recitals/Definitions. The foregoing recitals are hereby incorporated into and made a part of this Fifth Amendment by this
reference. All capitalized terms in this Fifth Amendment shall have the same meaning ascribed thereto in the Lease, unless otherwise
provided herein.
2.
Base Rent and Additional Rent. Landlord and Tenant agree that in lieu of Tenant’s Base Rent and monthly estimated
Additional Rent payments otherwise due July 31, 2018, August 1, 2018, September 1, 2018, October 1, 2018, November 1, 2018, and
December 1, 2018, as s e t forth above in Recital B a n d Recital C, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, in immediately available funds,
$2,530,655.51 on or before Friday, December 14, 2018. Notwithstanding the foregoing, beginning January 1, 2019, Tenant shall continue
to pay to Landlord (i) monthly estimated Additional Rent in the amount of $51,589.11 per month, or such other amount determined by
Landlord pursuant to the terms of the Lease, and (ii) monthly Base Rent in the amount of $211,204.50 per month.
3.
Effect of Fifth Amendment. Except as specifically amended in this Fifth Amendment, all of the terms and conditions of
the Lease shall continue in full force and effect. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Fifth Amendment and the terms of
the Lease Agreement, the terms of this Fifth Amendment shall prevail.
4.
Counterparts and Electronic Signatures. This Fifth Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of
which so executed shall be deemed to be an original, and such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same Fifth Amendment.
The parties shall be entitled to sign and transmit an electronic signature of this Fifth Amendment (whether by facsimile, PDF or other email
transmission), which signature shall be binding on the party whose name is contained therein. Any party providing an electronic signature
agrees to promptly execute and deliver to the other parties an original signed Fifth Amendment, upon request.
5.
Entire Agreement. This Fifth Amendment contains the entire understanding and agreement between the parties relating to
the matters covered hereby and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous negotiations, arrangements, agreements, understandings,
representations, and statements, whether oral or written, with respect to the matters covered hereby, all of which are merged herein and
shall be of no further force or effect.
[Signatures appear on the following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Fifth Amendment to Lease as of the date first written above.
LANDLORD:
SHREVEPORT BUSINESS PARK, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company
By:

Holdings SPE Manager, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company,
its Manager
By:

/s/ Richard H. Klein
Richard H. Klein
Chief Financial Officer

TENANT:
ELIO MOTORS, INC.,
an Arizona corporation
By:

/s/ Paul Elio
Paul Elio
Chief Executive Officer
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